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PART |
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains, in aduitto historical information, certain forward-loaki statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refakat of 1995. All statements other than statemehtsistorical fact contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, including statements regardingfuture results of operations and financialifas, strategy and plans, and our
expectations for future operations, are forwarckiog statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “esdit®,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “design,”
“intend,” “expect” and similar expressions are imded to identify forward-looking statements. We daased these forwatdeking statement
largely on our current expectations and projectiinsut future events and trends that we believe affegt our financial condition, results of
operations, strategy, short-term and long-termriass operations and objectives, and financial néedward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, statements about:

* our opportunities and expectations for growth i skudent lending, healthcare and other mau

* anticipated trends and challenges in our businegsampetition in the markets in which we ope

» our client relationships and future growth oppoities;

» the adaptability of our technology platform to nearkets and process

e our ability to invest in and utilize our data anthiytics capabilities to expand our capabilit

« our growth strategy of expanding in our existingkess and considering strategic alliances or adipis;

e our ability to meet our liquidity and working cagiheeds

e maintaining, protecting and enhancing our intellatproperty

e our expectations regarding future exper

» expected future financial performance;

e our ability to comply with and adapt to industrgutations and compliance demar

These statements reflect current views with resjgeftiture events and are based on assumptionsudajelct to risks and uncertainties.
There are a variety of factors could cause acesllts to differ materially from the anticipateduls or expectations expressed in our forwarc

looking statements. These risks and uncertaintiglside, but are not limited to, those risks disedss Item 1A of this report. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliarcthese forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements contained in this repogsent management’s views only as of the datiei®feport. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update forward-looking statents, whether as a result of new information,reievents or otherwise. You are advised,
however, to consult any further disclosures we nakeelated subjects in our quarterly reports omFd0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatelytics services in the United States. Our sesvieelp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrfenboth government and private clients in a Bn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atgbarce their recovery needs in order to redugsel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaogent state tax and federal treasury receivaliesgenerally provide our services on an
outsourced basis, where we handle many or all é&spéour clients’ recovery processes.

We believe we have a leading position in our markatsed on our proprietary technology-enabled ses\platform, long-standing
client relationships and the large volume of fungshave recovered for our clients. In 2013, we jged recovery services on approximately
$11.0 billion of combined student loans and otleindjuent federal and state receivables and reedvagproximately $598 million in improg
Medicare payments. Our clients include 11 of the@Blic sector participants in the student loarusidy and these relationships average more
than 10 years in length, including a &ar relationship with the Department of Educatibs of September 30, 2013, approximately $91 I
of government-supported student loans were in dtelauhe healthcare market, we are currently offur prime Medicare Recovery Audit
Contractors, or RACs, in the United States forGleaters for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CM&ording to the
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Government Accountability Office, Medicare paid $3illion of claims in 2012, of which approximate®¥4 billion were estimated to be
improper payments.

We utilize our technology platform to efficientlyqvide recovery and analytics services in the ntarke serve. We have
continuously developed and refined our technoldgyf@rm for almost two decades by using our extemsgiomain and data processing
expertise. Our technology platform allows us tadigregate otherwise complex recovery processesiisévies of simple, efficient and
consistent component steps, which we refer to akfleavs, for our recovery and healthcare claimseewvspecialists. This approach enables u
to continuously refine our recovery processes toeae higher rates of recovery with greater efficig By optimizing what traditionally have
been manually-intensive processes, we believe Wiewae higher workforce productivity versus moraitianal labor-intensive outsourcing
business models. For example, we generated in ®x¢é 70,000 of revenues per employee during 2048ed on the average number of
employees during the year.

We believe that our platform is easily adaptabladw markets and processes. Over the past sewana, we have successfully
extended our platform into additional markets vgignificant recovery opportunities. For example,wiézed the same basic platform
previously used primarily for student loan recovactivities to enter the healthcare market. We lemreanced our platform through investmen
in new data and analytics capabilities, which wielbe will enable us to provide additional servisegh as services relating to the detection o
fraud, waste and abuse.

Our revenue model is generally success-based aamdees based on a percentage of the aggregatsaai funds that we enable
our clients to recover. Our services do not reqairg significant upfront investments by our clieatsl we offer our clients the opportunity to
recover significant funds otherwise lost. Becausenoodel is based upon the success of our effadstze dollars we enable our clients to
recover, our business objectives are aligned witise of our clients and we are generally not rebartheir spending budgets. Further, our
business model does not require significant capitpenditures and we do not purchase loans oratldigs.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we genexpfgrdximately $255.3 million in revenues, $36.3lionil in net income, $89.4
million in adjusted EBITDA and $42.8 million in adjted net income. See “Managements Discussion aatygis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Adjusted EBITDA and Adjashkéet Income” in Item 7 below for a definition adjasted EBITDA and adjusted net
income and reconciliations of adjusted EBITDA and¢uated net income to net income determined inr@zswe with generally accepted
accounting principles.

We commenced our operations in 1976 under the catpaame Diversified Collection Services, Inc.D&S. We were incorporated
in Delaware on October 8, 2003 under the name D@8ikYs, Inc. and subsequently changed our narRetfmrmant Financial Corporation
2005. Our website address is www.performantcorp.com

Our Markets

We operate in markets characterized by strong dgroavtomplex regulatory environment and a signifiGanount of delinquent,
defaulted or improperly paid assets.

Student Lending

Government-supported student loans are authorigddruTitle 1V of the Higher Education Act of 19@3istorically, there have been
two distribution channels for student loans: (g #ederal Direct Student Loan Program, or FDSLR¢hviepresents loans made and managec
directly by the Department of Education; and (i ~ederal Family Education Loan Program, or FFEltich represents loans made by
private institutions and currently backed by anyhaf 31 Guaranty Agencies, or "GAs".

In July 2010, the government-supported student $eamor underwent a structural change with thegggesef SAFRA. This legislation
transitioned all new government-supported studeam briginations to the FDSLP, and away from oatjitns made by private institutions
within the FFELP that had previously utilized thA$3to guarantee, manage and service loans. Thea®?Ason-profit 501(c)(3) public benefit
corporations operating under contract with the $&cretary of Education, pursuant to the Highercatan Act of 1965, as amended, solely
for the purpose of guaranteeing and managing studens originated by lenders participating in BfELP. Consequently, while the original
distribution channels for student loans have bessalidated into one channel, the Department oftktlon, this does not impact the volum
government-supported student loan origination, tvisca key driver of the volume of defaulted studean inventory. In addition, despite this
transition of all new loan originations to the FORSLGAS will continue to manage a significant amaafrdefaulted student loans for some
period of time, due to their large outstanding fadids of loans originated prior to July 2010. Ttnatstanding portfolios of defaulted FFELP
loans will, therefore, require recovery for thedeeeable future.
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The Department of Education estimates that thenbelaf defaulted loans was approximately $55.%0bilin the FDSLP and
approximately $34.5 billion in the FFELP as of Sepber 30, 2013. These programs collectively guaeghapproximately $896 billion of
federal government-supported student loans acagtdithe Congressional Budget Office as of SepterBbe2012. Given the operational and
logistical complexity involved in managing the rgeoy of defaulted student loans, the Departmeiiidafcation and the GAs generally choose
to outsource these services to third parties.

Healthcare

The healthcare industry represents a significarttgpoof the U.S. GDP. According to CMS, U.S. hka#ire spending reached $2.8
trillion in 2012 and is forecast to grow at a 6%maal rate through 2022. In particular, CMS indisateat federal government-related healthcar
spending for 2012 totaled approximately $1.2 tiili This federal government-related spending iredLiapproximately $573 billion for
Medicare, which provides a range of healthcare iame primarily to elderly and disabled Americans] &421 billion for Medicaid, which
provides federal matching funds for states to foeahealthcare for individuals at or below the pubksistance level.

Medicare was initially established as part of tloei&l Security Act of 1965 and consists of fourtpaPart A covers hospital and other
inpatient stays; Part B covers hospital outpatighysician and other services; Part C is known adibére Advantage, under which
beneficiaries receive benefits through private the@llans; and Part D is the Medicare outpatiensgription drug benefit.

Of the $573 billion of 2012 Medicare spending, Bepartment of Health and Human Services estimé&i@dapproximately $44
billion, or approximately 8%, was improper, andtthbedicare is the federal program with the largasbunt of improper payments. Medicare
improper payments generally involve incorrect cgdiprocedures performed which were not medicallgessary, and incomplete
documentation or claims submitted based on outdatedchedules, among other issues. Likewise, Matimproper payments were estime
to be $19 billion, or 5%, of total Medicaid paymefr 2012.

In accordance with the Medicare Prescription Diogprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, a desti@tion program was
conducted from March 2005 to March 2008 in sixegdb determine if the RAC program could be effexdyi used to identify improper
payments for claims paid under Medicare Part ARad B. Due to the success of this demonstratiodeuThe Tax Relief and Health Care
of 2006, the U.S. Congress authorized the exparnditine RAC program nationwide. CMS relies on thpatty contractors to execute the RAC
program to analyze millions of Medicare claims aadlyufor improper payments to healthcare provid&te program was implemented by
designating one prime contractor in each of the foajor regions in the United States: West, Midw8stuth, and Northeast.

In addition to government-related healthcare spendignificant growth in spending is expectedhe private healthcare market.
According to CMS’ National Health Expenditures Rgijons, the private healthcare market accounteddproximately $1.6 trillion in
spending in 2012 and private expenditures are giejeto grow more than 5% annually through 2022.

Other Markets
State Tax Market

As state governments struggle with revenue gemeratid face significant budget deficits, many stat@ve focused on recovery of
delinquent state taxes. According to the CentedBuaaiget and Policy Priorities, an independent thark, 31 U.S. states faced projected budge
shortfalls totaling $55 billion in the year endegb&mber 30, 2013. The economic recession beginmiBg08 led to lower income and sales
taxes from both individuals and corporations, régyioverall tax revenues and leading to large btidg#cits at the state government level.
While many states have received federal aid, maat lcut services and increased taxes to help thedeudget shortfall and have evaluated
outsourcing at least some aspect of delinquentezovery.

Federal Agency Marke

The federal agency market consists of governmdrtt siebrogated to the Department of the Treasunyumerous different federal
agencies, comprising a mix of commercial and irdlial obligations and a diverse range of receivafleese debts are managed by the Bu
of the Fiscal Service (formerly the Department wfafcial Management Service), a bureau of the Deymant of the Treasury, or FS. Since
1997, the FS has recovered more than $62 billiatelmguent federal debt. For the year ended SdyeB0, 2013, federal agency recoveries
in this market totaled more than $7 billion, anréase of more than $800 million over 2012. A siigaift portion of these collections are
processed by private collection firms on behalfhef FS.
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Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that our business is difficult to reate, as it incorporates a combination of severpbittant and differentiated elements,
including:

» Scalable and flexible technolor-enabled services platformwWe have built a proprietary technology platformttisehighly
flexible, intuitive and easy to use for our recqvand claims specialists. Our platform is easilgfigurable and deployable across
multiple markets and processes. For example, we bagscessfully extended our platform from the sttttean market to the state
tax, federal treasury receivables and the heakthearovery markets, each having its own industrgplexities and specific
regulations.

e Advanced, technolo¢-enabled workflow processe®ur technology-enabled workflow processes, devalaper many years of
operational experience in recovery services, disagge otherwise complex recovery processes iatwias of simple, efficient
and consistent steps that are easily configuraideapplicable to different types of recovery-redbégplications. We believe our
workflow software is highly intuitive and helps augcovery and claims specialists manage each $tibe oecovery process, wh
automating a series of otherwise manually-intenaived document-intensive steps in the recovery pod&'e believe our
streamlined workflow technology drives higher affitrcies in our operations, as illustrated by oulitglio generate in excess of
$170,000 of revenues per employee during 2013 dhais¢he average number of employees during the Yéabelieve our
streamlined workflow technology also improves rezmgwesults relative to more labor-intensive outsog models.

» Enhanced data and analytics capabilitieOur data and analytics capabilities allow us tdeahstrong recovery rates for our
clients. We have collected recovery-related data¥er two decades, which we combine with largeinads of client and third-
party data to effectively analyze our clients’ dglient or defaulted assets and improper paymergshade also developed a
number of analytics tools that we use to scorecbents’ recovery inventory, determine the optimedovery process and
allocation of resources, and achieve higher lesktecovery results for our clients. In additiorg wtilize analytics tools to
continuously measure and test our recovery workfjoecesses to drive refinements and further enhtdrgcquality and
effectiveness of our capabilities. Finally, we psssenhanced data analytics capabilities, whicheves to as Performant Insight,
which provides capabilities in several areas incigdhe detection of fraud, waste and abuse irouarimarkets and has assisted i
our recovery activities for CMS. We intend to use enhanced analytics capabilities to pursue afditiopportunities in both the
public and private healthcare markets.

» Long-standing client relationships We believe our long-standing focus on achievingesiap recovery performance for our
clients and the significant value our clients deffirom this focus have helped us achieve long-thalient relationships, strong
contract retention and better access to new clemisfuture growth opportunities. We have busimekgionships with 11 of the
30 public sector participants in the student loarket and these relationships average more thged in length, including an
approximate 23-year relationship with the Departioéricducation. In the healthcare market, we haseven-year relationship
with CMS and are currently one of four prime Med&&AC contractors.

« Extensive domain expertise in complex and regulatedrkets. We have extensive experience and domain expentigsoviding
recovery services for government and private intstihs that generally operate in complex and regdlanarkets. We have
demonstrated our ability to develop domain expelitisnew markets such as healthcare and statetbfederal Treasury
receivables. We believe we have the necessary iaggamal experience to understand and adapt tlviengppublic policy and
how it shapes the regulatory environment and olvjesbf our clients. We believe this helps us iffgrand anticipate growth
opportunities. For example, we successfully idediovernment healthcare as a potential growtlodppity that has thus far I
to the award of three contracts to us by CMS. Togyetvith our flexible technology platform, we habhe ability to adapt our
business strategy, to allocate resources and pomesto changes in our regulatory environment fitakze on new growth
opportunities.

» Proven and experienced management te: Our management team has significant industry éspee and has demonstrated
strong execution capabilities. Our senior managéneam, led by Lisa Im, has been with us for anaye of approximately 11
years. This team has successfully grown our revease and service offerings beyond the originalesttiloan market int
healthcare and delinquent state tax and privasaiial institutions receivables. Our managememht®andustry experience,
combined with deep and specialized understanding of
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complex and highly regulated industries, has emhb#eto maintain long-standing client relationstaps strong financial results.

Our Growth Strategy
Key elements of our growth strategy include théofeing:

« Expand our student loan recovery volun The balance of defaulted government-supportecestudans was approximately $91
billion as of September 30, 2013. While we havegistanding relationships with some of the largestipipants in the
government-supported student loan market, we belileere are significant opportunities within thiswging market to increase
the volume of student loans placed with us by exdsand new clients. For example, if we are ablerter into a new contract
with the Department of Education, which is currgstlibject to a rebidding process, we believe tiea® opportunity to grow our
placement volume through strong performance. Furdsea result of our relationships with five of theven largest GAs, we
believe we are well-positioned to benefit as altesfiany consolidation of smaller GAs over the ¢ogiyears.

» Expand our recovery services in the healthcare metrl According to CMS, Medicare spending totaled appmately $573
billion in 2012 and is expected to increase to $dllion in 2022, representing a compound annualrgh rate of 6%. In the
private healthcare market, spending totaled $ill®trin 2012 and is expected to grow more than&%ually through 2022,
according to CMS’ National Health Expenditures Betipns. As these large markets continue to grosvexpect the need for
recovery services to increase in the public andapei healthcare markets. If we are able to contioyzovide audit and recovery
services for CMS under a new RAC contract, whictuisently open to a competitive bidding process,plan to expand our au
and recovery services in the public healthcare staFurther, we expect to continue to develop oditarecovery and analytics
services in the private healthcare market. In amdithrough our enhanced analytics capabilitiesjntend to pursue opportunit
to find and eliminate losses prior to payment fealthcare services, including the detection ofdrauvaste and abuse in the public
and private healthcare markets.

» Pursue strategic alliances and acquisitior We intend to selectively consider opportunitiegtow through strategic alliances or
acquisitions that are complementary to our busiriEssse opportunities may enhance our existinglilijies, enable us to enter
new markets, expand our product offerings and allswo diversify our revenues.

Our Platform

Our technologyenabled services platform is based on over twodkecaf experience in recovering large amounts rd$wn behalf ¢
our clients across several markets. The compomérmtsr platform include our data management expertnalytics capabilities and
technology-based workflow processes. Our platfortagrates these components to allow us to achigtmized outcomes for our clients in
the form of increased efficiency and productivindahigh recovery rates. Our platform and workflonwgesses are also intuitive and easy tc
for our recovery and claims specialists and allewaiincrease our employee retention and prodtytivi

The components of our platform include the follogrin

Data Management Expertis

Our platform manages and stores large amountstaftbdeoughout the workflow process. This includethiproprietary data we have
compiled over two decades as well as third-partg dédoich we can integrate efficiently and in raald to reduce errors, reduce cycle time
processing and, ultimately, improve recovery raté® strength of our data management expertise anignour analytics capabilities and
provides our recovery and claims specialists watvgrful workflow processes.

Data Analytics Capabilitie:

Our data analytics capabilities efficiently screel allocate massive volumes of recovery inventeoy.example, upon receipt of e:
placement of student loans, we utilize our proprigtlgorithms to assist us in determining the nedfatient recovery process and the optimal
allocation of recovery specialist resources fohdaan. In the healthcare market, we analyze nidliof Medicare claims to find potential
correlations between claims data and improper paysnahich enhance our future recovery rates. Acatisof our current markets, we utilize
our proprietary analytics tools to continuously aigarously test our workflow processes in realdito drive greater process efficiency and
improvement in recovery rates.
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Furthermore, we believe our enhanced analyticshibies will extend our potential markets, perrmt us to pursue significant new
business opportunities. For example, we have exqzhtite use of our data analytics capabilities énhtbalthcare sector to offer a variety of
services from post and pre-payment audit of heatthclaims in both the public and private healtbearctor, to detection of fraud, waste and
abuse of healthcare claims, to coordination of fien@nd pharmacy fraud detection.

Workflow Processes

Over many years, we have developed and refinedemonery workflow processes, which we believe dhigher efficiency and
productivity and reduce our reliance on labor-istea methods relative to more traditional recovaugsourcing models. We refer to the
patented technology that supports our proprietarskflows as “Smart Bins.” Smart Bins disaggregéatesovise complex recovery processes
into a series of simple, efficient and consistéaps that are easily configurable and applicabtiifterent types of recovery-related
applications. Our workflow processes integrateaatirrange of functions that encompass each stageeabvery process.

Smart Bins have been designed to be highly intiigind help our recovery and claims specialists ggeach step in the recovery
process and enhance their productivity to highligvegardless of skill differences among sped&liSmart Bins direct specialists toward the
most efficient and effective action, or step wiéspect to the management and recovery of a dedastitelent loan, with some input by
specialists. Our technology places expert systdes into the workflow engine, allowing employeesligterent skill levels to manage the more
complex work steps that highly experienced workessld perform, while automating document manageraedtcompliance functionality as
industry regulations and compliance demands change.

The following recovery diagram illustrates how treious components of our platform work togethesdtve a typical client
workflow:
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Description

Process /
Step

Key Platform
Attributes

Receive files for
defaulted loans,

delinguent receivablas

or healthcare claims

Proprietary and
third-party data are
simultanacusly
combined to reduce
errors and increase

likelihood of recovery

Scoring and filtering of

data to determing
efficient recovery

process and resource

allecation

Recovery and claim
specialists utilize
workflow processes

to identify, restructure
and recover inventory

Mave inventary to

different specialists, i

needed, to increase
recovery rates

Receipt of
Inventory
Volume

Data
Aggregation
and Pre-
Processing

Inventory
Analysis and
Allocation

Recovery
Functions

Continuous
Inventory
Management

Data Management and Expertise
= Manages large volumes of data

» Combines proprietary and third-party data
sources

p.

~

II.."
Data Analytics Capabilities

= Proprietary analytics tools

= Filters data to determine resource
allocation and workflow processas

» Able to measure and refine workflow
processes

Workflow Processes
= Simplifies complex processes

= Enhances employee productivity and
accuracy

= Facilitates regulatory compliance
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Our Services

We use our technology-enabled services platforprawide recovery and analytics services in a braade of markets for the
identification and recovery of student loans, ing@ohealthcare payments and delinquent state th¥ealeral treasury receivables. The table
below summarizes our recovery services and rekatety/tics capabilities and the markets we serve.

Recovery Services

Analytics
Student Loans Healthcare Other Markets Capabilities
» Provide recovery services to ¢ Provide audit and recovery <« Provide tax recovery * We use our enhanced data
the Department of Education,  services to identify improper  services to state and municipal analytics capabilities, which we refer
GAs and private institutions healthcare payments for public agencies to as Performant Insight, to offer a

and private healthcare providers variety of services from post- and pre-
payment audit of healthcare claims to
detection of fraud, waste and abuse o

healthcare claims, to coordination of

» Identify and track defaulted
borrowers across our clients’
portfolios of student loans

Recover government debt
for numerous different federal
agencies under a contract with
the Treasury and provide

 Identify improper payments
typically resulting from

» Utilize our proprietary incorrect coding, p_rocedures recovery and audit services for benefits and pharmacy fraud detect
technology, our history of that were not medically .
. ; the Department of Education
borrower data and our analytics necessary, incomplete
capabilities to rehabilitate and  documentation or claims « Enable financial institution
recover past due student loans submitted based on outdated fet proactively manage loan
schedules portfolios and reduce the

« Earn contingent, success-

bgffgnige(sa ((:)afd?uurlmgge?hgfvee e Earn contingent, success- assets
P g based fees based on a

enable our clients to recover ; < Earn contingent, success-
percentage of claim amounts
based fees calculated as a
recovered
percentage of the amounts
recovered, fees based on
dedicated headcount and hosted
technology licensing fees

incidence of defaulted loan

Recovery Service
Student Loans

We provide recovery services primarily to the goweent-supported student loan industry, and ounwdignclude the Department of
Education and several of the largest GAs, as vedlirivate financial institutions. We use our prefary technology to identify, track and
communicate with defaulted borrowers on behalfwfdients to implement suitable recovery progrdanghe repayment of outstanding
student loan balances.

Our clients contract with us to provide recovergvaes for large pools of student loans generafyresenting a portion of the total
outstanding defaulted balances they manage, whahgrovide to us as “placements” on a periodidsb&enerally, the volume of placements
that we receive from our clients is influenced loy performance under our contracts and our alityecover funds from defaulted student
loans, as measured against the performance of ¢ibarpavho may service a similar pool of defaulteans for the same client. To the extent
we perform well under our existing contracts arftedentiate our services from those of our compeditwe may receive a relatively greater
number of student loan placements under theseamstand may improve our ability to obtain futuoattacts from these clients and other
potential clients.

We use algorithms derived from over two decadesxptrience with defaulted student loans to maksoregbly accurate estimates
the recovery outcomes likely to be derived fromlee@ment of defaulted student loans.

We also restructure and recover student loansdsdinectly by banks to students outside of fedlenadling programs. These types of
loans typically supplement government-supportedesitiloans to meet any shortfall in supply of stddean needs that cannot be met by
grants or federal loans. Unlike government-suppbstadent loans, private student loans do not bapeed interest rates and, accordingly,
involve higher instances of default relative todeally-backed student loans.

Healthcare

We provide recovery services related to impropenpnts in the healthcare market. In 2009 we werarded the role as one of four
prime RAC contractors in the United States, witblesive responsibility for the Northeast region.dénour existing RAC contract, we ident
and facilitate the recovery of improper Parts A &lledicare payments. Our existing
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contract with CMS is currently subject to a comipetirebidding process. Our relationship with CM&yan in 2005 with an initial
demonstration contract to recover improper paymiemt®ledicare Secondary Payor claims.

Under our RAC contract with CMS, we utilize ourtieclogy-enabled services platform to screen Medictaims against several
criteria, including coding procedures and medieaassity standards, to determine whether a claimldibe further investigated for
recoupment or adjustment by CMS. We conduct autedhand, where appropriate, detailed medical ndgagsiiews. If we determine that the
likelihood of finding a potential improper paymemarrants further investigation, we request andawuiealthcare provider medical records
related to the claim, utilizing experts in Medicamling and registered nurses. We interact and eaornwate with healthcare providers and
other administrative entities, and ultimately subiié claim to CMS for correction.

In the private healthcare market, we utilize oehteology-enabled services platform to provide auditovery and analytical services
for private healthcare providers.

Other Markets

We also provide recovery services to several statemunicipal tax authorities, the Department ef Theasury, the Department of
Education and a number of financial institutions.

For state and municipal tax authorities, we anadypertfolio of delinquent tax and other receivaljaced with us, develop a
recovery plan and execute a recovery process dabignmaximize the recovery of funds. In some imsts, we have also run state tax amn
programs, which provide one-time relief for deliegtitax obligations, and other debtor managememuices for our clients. We currently have
relationships with ten state and municipal govenmisieDelinquent obligations are placed with us bydients and we utilize a process that is
similar to the student loan recovery process foovering these obligations.

For the Department of the Treasury, we recover goaent debt subrogated to it by numerous diffefetiéral agencies. The
placements we are provided represent a mix of cawiad@nd individual obligations. We are one offaantractors for the most recent
Treasury contract.

We also provide risk management advisory servitasdnable these clients to proactively manage poatfolios and reduce the
incidence of defaulted loan assets over time. @pegence suggests that proactive default prevemiactices produce significant net yield
and earnings gains for our clients. We deliveréhg=rvices in two forms. First, we contact and atirvgith borrowers to implement a
repayment program, including payment through autmnaiebit arrangements, prior to the beginninghef tepayment period in order to
increase the likelihood that payments begin on tifeeond, we offer a service that involves comagatielinquent borrowers in an effort to ¢
the delinquency prior to the loan entering default.

Analytics Capabilities

For several years, we have leveraged our datatarsalgols to help filter, identify and recover idegjuent and defaulted assets and
improper payments as part of our core recoveryiges\platform. Through our enhanced data analgapabilities, which we refer to as
Performant Insight, we are able to review, aggreegatd synthesize very large volumes of structarebunstructured data, at high speeds,
the initial intake of disparate data sources, towlarehousing of the data, to the analysis andtiegof the data. We believe we have built a
differentiated, next-generation “end-to-end” datagessing solution that will maximize value for @nt and future customers.

Performant Insight provides numerous benefits farrecovery services platform. Performant Insighd hot only enhanced our
existing recovery services under our RAC contrgcamalyzing significantly higher volumes of healhe claims at faster rates and reducing
our cycle time to review and assess healthcarmslaiut has also enabled us to develop improvedrentd sophisticated business intelligence
rules that can be applied to our audit processesb&lieve our enhanced analytics capabilitiesexitend our potential markets, permitting us
to pursue significant new business opportunities.N&ve expanded the use of our data analytics itigipahin the healthcare sector to offer a
variety of services from post and pre-payment aoifditealthcare claims in both the public and pevatalthcare sector, to detection of fraud,
waste and abuse of healthcare claims, to coordimati benefits and pharmacy fraud detection.

Our Clients

We provide our services across a broad range afrgovent and private clients in several markets.

Department of Educatior
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We have provided student loan recovery servicésd®epartment of Education for approximately 28rgeWe restructure and
recover defaulted student loans distributed diydayl the Department of Education as part of the BB Due to its limited resources and
recovery capabilities, the Department of Educatiotsources much of its defaulted student loan plastfo third-party vendors for recovery.
Recovery fees are entirely contingency-based, andee for a particular recovery depends on the tfrecovery facilitated. We also receive
incremental performance incentives based upon edopnance as compared to other contractors wétDipartment of Education, which are
comprised of additional inventory allocation volwsrand incentive fees. To participate in the Depantnof Education contracts, firms must
follow a highly competitive selection process. BHue latest Department of Education contract, theetfomajor contract the Department of
Education has outsourced to selected vendors, we sedected as one of 17 unrestricted vendorsratiat@d work on this contract in the fou
guarter of 2009. We are currently subject to a cstitipe rebidding process for the next contractwtite Department of Education. Because al
federally-supported student loans are being ortgohéy the Department of Education as a result?AdifBA, our relationship with the
Department of Education will become increasinglyrenionportant over time. The Department of Educatias responsible for approximately
20.2% of our revenues for the years ended DeceB8het013.

Guaranty Agencies

We restructure and recover defaulted student lssued by private lenders and backed by GAs uideFEELP. Despite the
transition from FFELP to FDSLP, we believe GA ddfaolumes will continue to rise for a few yearsthsre is a lag between originations and
defaults of at least three to four years. Whenradweer stops making regular payments on a FFELR, lttee GA is obligated to reimburse the
lender approximately 97% of the loan’s principati @tcrued interest. GAs then seek to recover astdurture these obligations. The GAs with
which we contract generally structure one to threar initial term contracts with multiple renewaripds, and historically the fees that we
receive are generally similar to the fees we rexéiom the Department of Education contract. Fons@&GA clients, we provide services
through MSAs, under which we manage a GA'’s entindfplio of defaulted student loans and, for certaients, engage subcontractors to
provide a portion of the recovery services assediatith a GA’s student loan portfolio.

We have a relationship with 11 of the 30 active @Athe U.S., including Great Lakes Higher Educat@uaranty Corporation and
American Student Assistance Corporation, which wesponsible for 16.5% and 12.1%, respectivelypusfrevenues for the year ended
December 31, 2013. We have had relationships wilclignts for over 25 years.

CMS

We have a seven-year relationship with CMS. UndeRAC contract with CMS awarded in 2009, we idigraind facilitate the
recovery of improper Parts A and B Medicare paysénthe Northeast region of the United Statesvaimdh accounted for approximately
26.2% of our revenues for the year ended Decemhe2®BL3. We are currently subject to a competitaiidding process for the next RAC
contract with CMS. The fees that we receive fontdging these improper payments from CMS are ehticontingency-based, and the
contingency-fee percentage depends on the mettiodsavery, and, in some cases, the type of imprppgment that we identify.

U.S. Department of the Treasury

We have assisted the Department of the TreasurdGgears in the recovery of delinquent receivablesd to a number of different
federal agencies. The debt obligations we helgtover on behalf of the Department of the Treaswiude commercial and individual debt
obligations. We are one of the four firms servicihg current Department of the Treasury contraatil& to our other recovery contracts, our
fees under this contract are contingency-basedvidde this as an important strategic relationsh#it grovides us valuable insight into other
business opportunities within the federal governmen

State Tax and Municipal Agencie

We provide outsourced recovery services for indigld’ delinquent state tax and other municipalgdtions on a hosted model and
under MSAs. We currently have relationships with séate and municipal governments.

Private Lenders

We provide recovery services for private studeank that supplement federally guaranteed loamshame mortgages to private
lenders.

Sales and Marketing
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Our new business opportunities have historicallgrbériven largely by referrals and natural extemsiof our existing client
relationships, as well as a targeted outreach bipsmanagement. Our sales cycles are often lengtity demand high levels of attention from
our senior management. At any point in time, wetgpéally focused on a limited number of potenyiaignificant new business opportuniti
As a result, to date, we have operated with a ssteff of experienced individuals with responstlifior developing new sales, relying heavily
upon our executive staff, including a Senior Vicedtdent of Sales and Marketing and a sales teareriog various markets.

Technology Operations

Our technology center is based in Livermore, Cawtif®, with a redundant capacity in our Grants P@ssgon office. Additionally,
Performant Insight, our data analytics businessygported by staff in Miami Lakes, Florida. We dalesigned our infrastructure for scalab
and redundancy, which allows us to continue to aeein the event of an outage at either datacéitemaintain an information systems
environment with advanced network security intragietection and prevention with 24x7 monitoring ardurity incident response
capabilities. We utilize encryption technologieptotect sensitive data on our systems, all datagdransmission and all data on redundancy
or backup media. We also maintain a comprehensiterrise-wide information security system basedhugcognized standards, including
the NIST800 53 and ISO 27002 Code of Practicerftormation Security Program Management, to uphaith Becurity standards needed for
the protection of sensitive information.

Competition

We face significant competition in all aspects of business.

In recovery services for delinquent and defauleskts, we face competition from a number of congsariolders of these delinquent
and defaulted assets typically engage several fiimaltaneously to provide recovery services ofedit portions of their portfolios. The
number of recovery firms engaged varies by cliEot.example, we are one of 17 unrestricted progidérecovery services on the current
Department of Education contract, while some of@#es may only engage a few recovery vendors atiamg. Initially, we compete to be one
of the retained firms in a competitive bidding pges and, if we are successful, we then face cangjrsompetition from the client’s other
retained firms based on the client’s benchmarkinth® recovery performance of its several vendgtignts such as the Department of
Education typically will allocate additional placents to those recovery vendors producing the higkesvery rates. We believe that we
primarily compete on the basis of recovery ratéguarance, as well as maintenance of high standzroscovery practices and data security
capabilities. We believe that we compete favoratith respect to most of these factors as evidebgeaslir longstanding relationships with @
clients in these markets. Pricing is not usualhlgagor competitive factor as all recovery servicesdors in these markets typically receive the
same contingency-based fee rate.

In the recovery of improper healthcare paymentsfaged a highly competitive process, involving @é&anumber of bidders, to
become one of the four prime RAC contractors inUh@ed States. CMS is currently in the procurenpotess for the next round of RAC
contracts. We expect that our competition will ura# the other three RAC service providers: Healmdfjement Systems, Inc., Connolly
Consulting, Inc. and CGI Group. We also may facapetition from a variety of healthcare consultimgl dealthcare information services
companies. Some of these potential competitorthtonext RAC contract may have greater financidl ather resources than we do. Accorc
to the request for quotes, the competitive fadimrshis new RAC contract are demonstrated expedén effective recovery services in the
healthcare market, technical approach for idemtgymproper payments, key personnel and staffingntial capability to perform under the
RAC contract and recovery fee rates. We believedhaseven-year relationship with CMS and ourtegl@xperience in providing recovery
services to identify improper payments allows usdmpete favorably with respect to many of theséofa. We expect that our performance in
identifying claims, managing the claims processeteu the current RAC contract, and establishedsysintegration with CMS and related
Medicare administrative contractors will also bg kactors in determining our continued service M

Government Regulation

The nature of our business requires that we adbeaeomplex array of federal and state laws agdlations. These include the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Aot HIPAA, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Aat,FDCPA, the Fair Credit Reporting
Act, or FCRA, the rules and regulations establistyethe Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, dPB,Fand related state laws. We are alsc
governed by a variety of state laws that regulag¢ecbllection, use, disclosure and protection ofqeal information. We have implemented
maintain physical, technical and administrativeegafirds intended to protect all personal data antave processes in place to assist us in
complying with applicable laws and regulations relgzg the protection of this data. Our complianfferés include training of personnel and
monitoring our systems and personnel.
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HIPAA and Related State Law

Our Medicare recovery business subjects us to dangd with HIPAA and various related state lawd tmntain substantial
restrictions and requirements with respect to $eand disclosure of an individual's protected theiaformation. HIPAA prohibits us from
using or disclosing an individual's protected hed@iformation unless the use or disclosure is aigbd by the individual or is specifically
required or permitted under HIPAA. Under HIPAA, wmaist establish administrative, physical and tecirsafeguards to protect the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of eleonic protected health information maintainedransmitted by us or by others on our behalf.
We are required to notify affected individuals ggayernment authorities of data security breachesiing unsecured protected health
information. The Department of Health and Humarnvigses Office of Civil Rights enforces HIPAA privaeyolations; CMS enforces HIPAA
security violations and the Department of Justiti®rees criminal violations of HIPAA. We are sulijée statutory penalties for violations of
HIPAA.

Most states have enacted patient confidentialiyslthat protect against the unauthorized disclostioenfidential medical
information, and many states have adopted or arsidering further legislation in this area, inchigliprivacy safeguards, security standards
data security breach notification requirements.sEh&ate laws, if more stringent than HIPAA requieats, are not preempted by the federal
requirements, and we must comply with them evendghdhey may be subject to different interpretagiby various courts and other
governmental authorities. In addition, numerousp#giate laws govern the collection, disseminatise, access to and confidentiality of
individually identifiable health and healthcare yad®er information.

Our compliance efforts include the encryption aftpcted health information that we hold and theettgsment of procedures to
detect, investigate and provide appropriate natiifan if protected health information is comprondis®ur employees and contractors receive
initial and periodic supplemental training and &®ted to ensure compliance. As part of our cedtifbn and accreditation process, we must
undergo audits by federal agencies as noted b&d regularly audits us for, among other items, pliemce with their security standards.

Privacy Act of 197

The Privacy Act of 1974 governs the collection,,isterage, destruction and disclosure of persarfairnation about individuals by a
government agency and extends to government céotsawho have access to agency records perforneirdices for government agencies.
The Act requires maintenance of a code of conduoeiployees with access to the agency recordessidg the obligations under the Priv
Act, training of employees and discipline proceduic@ noncompliance. The Act also requires adopding maintaining appropriate
administrative, technical and physical safeguandagure the security and confidentiality of recashd to protect against any anticipated
threats or hazards to their security or integrity.

As a contractor to federal government agenciesreeemuired to comply with the Privacy Act of 192ur compliance effort includ
initial and ongoing training of employees and caators in their obligations under the Act. In aiitwe have implemented and maintain
physical, technical and administrative safeguardbsmocesses intended to protect all personalaatsistent with or exceeding our obligations
under the Privacy Act.

Certification, Accreditation and Security

Business services that collect, store, transmjirocess information for United States governmegnages and organizations are
required to undergo a rigorous certification ancreditation process to ensure that they operada atceptable level of security risk. As a
government contractor, we currently have AuthaidtyDperate, or ATO, licenses from both the Depantnoé Education and CMS.

We maintain a comprehensive enterprisde information security system based upon reaaghstandards, including the NIST80C
and ISO 27002 Code of Practice for Information $iéctProgram Management, to uphold high securiandards needed for the protection of
sensitive information. In addition, we hold SSASOC 1 Type Il certification, which provides assuwmo auditors of third parties that we
maintain the necessary controls and procedureffdctigely manage third party data. We undergoratependent audit by our government
agency clients on the award of the contract anmbgieally thereafter. We also conduct periodic ssessments.

Our regulatory compliance group is charged withrdsponsibility of ensuring our regulatory comptiarand security. All our
facilities have security perimeter controls witlyssgated access by security clearance level. Thenation systems environment maintains
advanced network security intrusion detection amggntion with 24x7 monitoring and security incitlezsponse capabilities. We utilize
encryption technologies to protect sensitive datawar systems, all data during transmission andaa#h on redundancy or backup media.
Employees undergo background and security chegk®ppate to their position. This can include s@gulearances by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation. We also maintain compliant disaséeovery and business continuity plans, annualhdoot two table top disaster exercises,
conduct routine
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security risk assessments and maintain a continmgu®vement process as part of our security riglgation and management activity.

FDCPA and Related State Laws

The FDCPA regulates persons who regularly collecttiempt to collect, directly or indirectly, comsar debts owed or asserted to be
owed to another person. Certain of our debt regoaed loan restructuring activities may be subjed¢he FDCPA. The FDCPA establishes
specific guidelines and procedures that debt regdiens must follow in communicating with consunabtors, including the time, place and
manner of such communications. Further, it prokibdrassment or abuse by debt recovery firms,dntuthe threat of violence or criminal
prosecution, obscene language or repeated teleglatisenade with the intent to abuse or harass.FINEPA also places restrictions on
communications with individuals other than consuhastors in connection with the collection of ampsumer debt and sets forth specific
procedures to be followed when communicating witthsthird parties for purposes of obtaining locatiaformation about the consumer. In
addition, the FDCPA contains various notice andldsure requirements and prohibits unfair or midileg representations by debt recovery
firms. Finally, the FDCPA imposes certain limitatgoon lawsuits to collect debts against consumers.

Prior to the adoption of amendments to the FDCPpaasof the Dodd-Frank Act, no federal agency thedauthority to issue
interpretative regulations for the FDCPA. As a tegudicial determinations and non-binding intexfative positions issued by the Federal
Trade Commission under the FDCPA created complidifieulties for the consumer debt collectionsustty. With the adoption of the
amendments to the FDCPA as part of the Dodd-FrastkrA2011, however, as well as specific statutrthority to issue implementing
regulations for the FDCPA, primary jurisdiction fie FDCPA was transferred to the Consumer FinARc@ection Bureau, or CFPB.
Subsequently, the CFPB has indicated that it mayeiproposed regulations under the FDCPA in 2014.

Debt recovery activities are also regulated afsthee level. Most states have laws regulating cetmivery activities in ways that are
similar to, and in some cases more stringent tteEn-DCPA. In addition, some states require detmivery firms to be licensed.

Our compliance efforts include written procedur@sdompliance with the FDCPA and related state Jamgployee training and
monitoring, auditing client calls, periodic revietgsting and retraining of employees, and procegiimeresponding to client complaints. In all
states where we operate, we believe that we clyreold all required state licenses or are exemptflicensing. Violations of the FDCPA 1
be enforced by the U.S. Federal Trade CommissioRTE, or by a private action by an individual ¢tass. Violations of the FDCPA are
deemed to be an unfair or deceptive act under¢keral Trade Commission Act, which can be punidhefines for each violation. Class
action damages can total up to one percent ofehevarth of the entity violating the statute. Attey fees and costs are also recoverable. In tt
ordinary course of business we are sued for alleg#dtions of the FDCPA and comparable state laltbpugh the amounts involved in the
disposition or settlement of any such claims hasebeen significant.

FCRA

We are also subject to the Fair Credit Reporting &cFCRA, which regulates consumer credit repgriind which may impose
liability on us to the extent that the adverse itnedormation reported on a consumer to a credielu is false or inaccurate. State law, to the
extent it is not preempted by the FCRA, may alspase restrictions or liability on us with respextéporting adverse credit information. Our
compliance efforts include initial and ongoing mhiag of employees working with consumer credit iepamonitoring of performance, and
periodic review and risk assessments. ViolationS@RA, which are deemed to be unfair or deceptots ander the Federal Trade Commis
Act, are enforced by the FTC or by a private acbigran individual or class. Civil actions by conmmmay seek damages per violation, with
punitive damages, attorneys fees and costs alswgeable. Under the Federal Trade Commission Amialiies for engaging in unfair or
deceptive acts can be punished by fines for eamhtion.

CFPB

The CFPB was created as part of the Dodd-FranknA911, with primary implementing and interpretatauthority for most federal
consumer protection laws, including the FDCPA, s¢farred to the CFPB. Among other things, the CFRB given the authority to issue
interpretive regulations for the FDCPA, which ishadicated may be issued as a proposal in 2014.

In addition to its authority in regard to federahsumer protection laws, the CFPB was also provitiiett jurisdiction over certain
consumer financial service providers. In Octobe2@f2, the CFPB issued a rule asserting directdigiion over large consumer debt
collectors, which includes debt collectors with aahassets of more than $10 million. In accordamitie the calculations included in this rule,
we are subject to direct jurisdiction of the CFR#! &n the future may be
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directly examined and supervised by the CFPB. &t tegard, the CFPB has also released examinatidamge that its examiners will use
when reviewing compliance by debt collectors sutfjedts direct supervision

State Law Compliance and Security Breach Respa

Many states impose an obligation on any entity tiwdds personally identifiable information or héaltformation to adopt appropriate
security to protect such data against unauthomredss, misuse, destruction, or modification. Mgtayes have enacted laws requiring holders
of personal information to take certain actionsdsponse to data breach incidents, such as prgviompt notification of the breach to
affected individuals and government authoritieanbny cases, these laws are limited to electraatia, dut states are increasingly enacting or
considering stricter and broader requirements. Bldussetts has enacted a regulation that requisesrdity that holds, transmits or collects
certain personal information about its residentadopt a written data security plan meeting theiregqents set forth in the statute. We have
implemented and maintain physical, technical andiattrative safeguards intended to protect alspeal data and have processes in place t
assist us in complying with applicable laws andutations regarding the protection of this data praperly responding to any security
incidents. We have adopted a system security pidrsacurity breach incident response plans to addrer compliance with these laws.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is a significant compohehour business, including, most notably, theliectual property underlying our
proprietary technology-enabled services platforrodlgh which we provide our defaulted asset recoaerother services. To protect our
intellectual property, we rely on a combinatiorird€llectual property rights, including patentsde secrets, trademarks and copyrights. We
also utilize customary confidentiality and othentractual protections, including employee and Hpiagty confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements.

As of December 31, 2013, we had two U.S. pateiwth, tovering aspects of the workflow managemertesys and methods
incorporated into our technology-enabled servidafgrm. These patents will expire in December 204/2 routinely assess appropriate
occasions for seeking additional patent protediaorthose aspects of our platform and other teabgiek that we believe may provide
competitive advantages to our business. We algmretertain unpatented proprietary expertise ahdrdknow-how, licensed and acquired
third-party technologies, and continuous improvetrn@md other developments of our various techneigill intended to maintain our
leadership position in the industry.

As of December 31, 2013, we had five trademarkistegd with the U.S. Patent and Trademark offRerformant, Performant
Recovery, Performant Technologies, Discovery Anedyand Performant Business Services.

We have registered copyrights covering various dgpyed material relevant to our business. We hee unregistered copyrights in
many components of our software systems. We mapaable to use these unregistered copyrightseteept misappropriation of such content
by unauthorized parties in the future; however rahg on our extensive information technology segumeasures and contractual arrangemen
with employees and third-party contractors to miaarthe opportunities for any such misuse of toistent.

We are not subject to any material intellectuaperty claims alleging that we infringe, misapprapegior otherwise violate the
intellectual property rights of any third party,rmtave we asserted any material intellectual ptgpefringement claim against any third party.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 1fa4ll9ime employees. None of our employees is aniner of a labor union and
we consider our employee relations to be good.

Available Information

The SEC maintains an Internet site at http://wwuaigev that contains our Annual Report on Form 1@arterly reports on Form 10-
Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendmentsdsetieports, if any, or other filings filed or fisined pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddtiedExchange Act, proxy and information statemehlisreports that we file with the SEC
may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public ReferBoom at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC, 20B¥6rmation about the operation of
the Public Reference Room can be obtained by galfia SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
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Our business, financial condition, results of ofieres and liquidity are subject to various riskgl amcertainties, including those
described below, and as a result, the trading ficeir common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our agreements with the Department of Education aB#S, two of our largest customers, are currentlybgect to rebidding processes, and
our failure to renew these agreements or a renewalless favorable terms would have a significangaéive impact on our revenues and
results of operations.

Our existing contracts with the Department of Ediaceand CMS are currently subject to rebiddinggesses. The Department of
Education and CMS were responsible for approxima®8l2% and 26.2% of our revenue for the year efimember 31, 2013, respectively.
The Department of Education has initiated a cohti&compete process that is ongoing. Similarly anecurrently participating in a
competitive bidding process for the next RAC cottirhut this process has been and may continue tietayed due in part to protests filed by
our competitors with respect to the terms propdsethe next RAC contract. While we believe ourfpemance under existing contracts with
the Department of Education and CMS and the expegigve have gained in performing under these cetstosition us well to renew both of
these agreements, failure to retain either of thgseements or a significant adverse change itethgs of either of these agreements upon an
renewal would seriously harm our revenues and paraiing results.

Revenues generated from our four largest clientpresented 75% of our revenues for the year endedddeber 31, 2013, and ar
termination of or deterioration in our relationshipvith any of these clients would result in a deadin our revenues.

We derive a substantial majority of our revenuesifia limited number of clients, including the Depsent of Education, CMS and
two GAs. Revenues from our four largest clientsespnted 75% of our revenues for the year endedrbieer 31, 2013. All of our contracts
with these clients are subject to periodic reneamal re-bidding processes and if we lose one oéthkants or if the terms of our relationships
with any of these clients become less favorablestmur revenues would decline, which would harmbusiness, financial condition and
results of operations.

The transition rules implemented by CMS in conneamiwith the award of the new RAC contract will hae@ adverse impact on our 2014
revenues.

Our audit activities under the RAC contract areently set to expire in June 2014. In planningtfa@ award of the next RAC
contracts, CMS has announced transition procedhatsvill affect our operations during the trarwitiperiod. In this regard, CMS permitted
to submit medical records requests until February2P14. In addition, CMS has placed restrictionsh® types of claims and the amount of
certain medical records requests that we may makegithe transition period, and CMS has maintaiméahg-running prohibition on
requesting medical records from PIP providers. Weet that these transition rules will have an aslveffect on our revenues during 2014.
Further, protests have been filed in connectioh wie new RAC contract, and any delay in the awéttie new RAC contract as a result of
these protests or future protests would have aaraghimpact on our future revenues in light of ¢heansaction rules. Lastly, given the
uncertainties surrounding the timing of the RACtcact renewal period and the final scope of theditaon rules, we may be required to retain
certain employees whose services may not be retdirgng the transition period, or may terminatgaia employees who we may not be able
to re-hire in the future, either of which could kaan adverse impact on our business and futureuesge

Many of our contracts with our clients for the regery of student loans and other receivables are ertlusive and do not commit our cliet
to provide specified volumes of business. In additithe terms of these contracts may be changedaierally and on short notice by our
clients. As a consequence, there is no assuraned te will be able to maintain our revenues and ogiting results.

Substantially all of our existing contracts for tieeovery of student loan and other receivables;hviepresented approximately
73.6% of our revenues in 2013, enable our clientsilaterally terminate their contractual relaship with us at any time without penalty,
potentially leading to loss of business or renegdimn of terms. Further, most of our contractshiese markets allow our clients to unilaterally
change the volume of loans and other receivablsatte placed with us at any given time. In addijtimost of our contracts are not exclusive,
with our clients retaining multiple service providavith whom we must compete for placements ofdoanother obligations. Therefore,
despite our contractual relationships with ourrdbe our contracts do not provide assurance thatilgenerate a minimum amount of
revenues or that we will receive a specific volushplacements.

Our revenues and operating results would be negtaffected if our student loan and receivablénts, which include four of our
five largest clients in 2013, reduce the volumstafient loan placements provided to us, modifytéhms of service, including the success fee
we are able to earn upon recovery of defaultedestiihans, or any of these clients establish maverfible relationships with our competitors.
For example, in 2013 our contractual arrangemettt thie
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Department of Education changed as a result ob#mmartment of Education’s decision to have its vecp vendors promote income-based
repayment, or IBR, to defaulted student loans. [Bfeprogram provides flexibility on the required mibly payment for student loan borrow
at an amount intended to be affordable based amrawer’s income and family size. In connectionhatihe implementation of the IBR
program, the Department of Education unilateradiguced the contingency fee rate that we receivesfwbilitating student loans by
approximately 13% as of March 1, 2013. Any changeake contingency fee percentages or other conghensterms that we are paid under
existing and future contracts could have a sigaiftampact on our revenues and operating results.

Our ability to derive revenues under our RAC conttawill depend in part on the number and types aitentially improper claims that we
are allowed to pursue by CMS, and our results okogtions may be harmed if the scope of claims thet are allowed to pursue and be
compensated for is limited.

Under our existing RAC contract with CMS and anwrRAC contract that we enter into upon completibthe current rebidding
process with CMS, we are not permitted to and nwysaek the recovery of an improper claim unleas particular type of claim has been pre:
approved by CMS to ensure compliance with appleabédicare payment policies, as well as nationdllacal coverage determinations.
Accordingly, the long-term growth of the revenues derive under a RAC contract will also dependart pn CMS expanding the scope of
potentially improper claims that we are allowegtwsue. If we are unable to continue to identifpioper claims within the types of claims
that we are permitted to pursue from time to timé €MS does not expand the scope of potentiatiprioper claims that we are allowed to
pursue, our results of operations could be advweefétcted.

In addition, CMS has implemented rules that, fer pleriod through September 30, 2014, prevent RAractors from being able to
review and audit (i) whether inpatient care delkdekbto patients with hospital stays lasting lesa tfag midnights was medically necessary and
therefore deserving of the higher reimbursemerelteunder Medicare Part A or (ii) whether inpatigaatment was medically necessary for
admissions spanning more than two midnights. hmeation with these restrictions, hospitals cafiibCMS for outpatient services on
hospital stays lasting less than two midnightsriysuch period. Fees associated with recoverigated by us based upon improper claims
for inpatient reimbursement of these short stay® mapresented a substantial portion of the rev@maehave earned under our existing RAC
contract. The suspension of this type of revievivagtcould have a material adverse effect on auife healthcare revenues and operating
results, depending on a variety of factors inclgdimmong other things, CMS’s evaluation of providempliance with the new rules, the rules
ultimately adopted by CMS with respect to medicatessity reviews of Medicare reimbursement claisse@aated with short stay inpatient
admissions and, more generally, the scope of ingrrofaims that CMS allows us to pursue and ouitghid successfully identify improper
claims within the permitted scope. In connectiothwie award of the new RAC contract, CMS has mt@id that it is reviewing certain aspects
of the RAC contract including the amount of mediealords that RAC vendors may request and the tamegfs for review and communicatic
between RAC vendors and providers.

We face significant competition in connection witibtaining, retaining and performing under our existg client contracts, including our
contracts with the Department of Education and CM&d an inability to compete effectively in the fue could harm our relationships wit
our clients, which would impact our ability to maiain our revenues and operating results.

We operate in very competitive markets. In prowdaur services to the student loan and other rabé#¢ markets, we face
competition from many other companies. Initiallyg wompete with these companies to be one of typisaleral firms engaged to provide
recovery services to a particular client and, ifave successful in being engaged, we then facénedmg competition from the client’s other
retained firms based on the client’s benchmarkinth® recovery rates of its several vendors. Intaud those recovery vendors who produce
the highest recovery rates from a client often balallocated additional placements and in somescadditional success fees. Accordingly,
maintaining high levels of recovery performance] dning so in a cost-effective manner, are imparactors in our ability to maintain and
grow our revenues and net income and the failueelieve these objectives could harm our busiriiessicial condition and results of
operations.Some of our current and potential coitgpstin the markets in which we operate may haeaigr financial, marketing,
technological or other resources than we do. Thlgabf any of our competitors and potential cortifigs to adopt new and effective
technology to better serve our markets may alle@wiho gain market strength. Increasing levels afietition in the future may result in low
recovery fees, lower volumes of contracted recogeryices or higher costs for resources. Any iiitghiih compete effectively in the markets
that we serve could adversely affect our busirfessncial condition and results of operations.

The U.S. federal government accounts for a signdfit portion of our revenues, and any loss of busisdrom, or change in our relationshi
with, the U.S. federal government would result irsaynificant decrease in our revenues and operatiggults.
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We have historically derived and are likely to d¢ouaé to derive a significant portion of our revesdi®m the U.S. federal governme
For the year ended December 31, 2013, revenues oongacts with the U.S. federal government actedifor approximately 48% of our to
revenues, compared to 42% for the year ended Desre®ih 2012. In addition, fees payable by the fe&eral government are expected to
become a larger percentage of our total revenuesstbe next several years as a result of legisidtiat has transferred responsibility for alll
new student loan origination to the Departmentaddation. The continuation and exercise of reneptibns on existing government contre
and any new government contracts are, among dilmgst contingent upon the availability of adequateding for the applicable federal
government agency. Changes in federal governmemidspg could directly affect our financial perfonnea. For example, the Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2013, which was signed into law bgd$ent Obama on December 26, 2013, reduced thpermation paid to GAs for the
rehabilitation of student loans, effective July2@14. This "revenue enhancement" measure will rediaen 18.5% to 16% of the outstanding
loan balance, the amount that GAs can charge bersowhen a rehabilitated loan is sold by the GAwitideliminate entirely the GAs
retention of 18.5% of the outstanding loan balaaa fee for rehabilitation services. It is uncleaw the reduction in compensation the GAs
receive will impact the contingency fee percenttige we receive from the GAs for assisting in thleabilitation of defaulted student loans;
however, any decrease in this contingency fee ptage would result in a decrease in our revenuas Idss of business from the U.S. federal
government, or significant policy changes or firiahpressures within the agencies of the U.S. f@ldgsvernment that we serve would resu
a significant decrease in our revenues, which wadkersely affect our business, financial condidod results of operations.

Future legislative or regulatory changes affectirtge markets in which we operate could impair ourdiness and operations.

The two principal markets in which we provide oeicovery services, government-supported studenslaad the Medicare program,
are a subject of significant legislative and retpriafocus and we cannot anticipate how future gearin government policy may affect our
business and operations. For example, SAFRA sarifly changed the structure of the governnsemported student loan market by assig
responsibility for all new government-supporteddstot loan originations to the Department of Edwrgtrather than originations by private
institutions and backed by one of 31 governmenpseupd GAs. This legislation, and any future chanigehe legislation and regulations that
govern these markets, may require us to adaptusinéss to the new circumstances and we may bdeuttatto so in a manner that does not
adversely affect our business and operations.

Our business relationship with the Department of &xhtion has accounted for a significant portion ofur revenues and will take on
increasing importance to our business as a resdlSAFRA. Our failure to maintain this relationshipvould significantly decrease our
revenues.

While the majority of our historical revenues froine student loan market have come from our relakigns with the GAs, as a result
of SAFRA, the Department of Education will ultimgtéecome the sole source of revenues in this maakbough the GAs will continue to
service their existing student loan portfolios fieany years to come. As a result, over time, andraisgy we are successful in entering into a
new contract with the Department of Education uridercurrent rebidding process, defaults on stuldamis originated by the Department of
Education will predominate and our ability to maintthe revenues we had previously received framaraber of GA clients will depend on ¢
relationship with a single client, the DepartmehEducation. While we have 23 years of experiemgeerforming student loan recovery
services for the Department of Education, we aeedarl7 unrestricted recovery service providershencurrent Department of Education
contract. If we are successful in entering intea rtontract with the Department of Education, theey be more than the current 17 recovery
service providers, which could lead to greater cetitipn among the selected service providers. tfrelationship with the Department of
Education terminates or deteriorates or if the D@pent of Education, ultimately as the sole holofedefaulted student loans, requires its
contractors to agree to less favorable terms, exgnues would significantly decrease, and our legsirfinancial condition and results of
operations would be harmed.

We could lose clients as a result of consolidatamong the GAs, which would decrease our revenues.

As a result of SAFRA, which terminated the abilifythe GAs to originate government-supported stutteans, some have speculated
that there may be consolidation among the 30 GA& 3peculation has heightened as a result ofeith@ction of fees that the GAs will receive
for rehabilitating student loans as a result ofBlipartisan Budget Act of 2013. If GAs that are clients are combined with GAs with whom
we do not have a relationship, we could sufferss lof business. We currently have relationshipk @t of the 30 GAs and two of our GA
clients were each responsible for more than 10%uofotal revenues in the year ended December@13.2The consolidation of our GA clie
with others and the failure to provide recoverywgms to the consolidated entity could decreaseaexanues, which could negatively impact
our business, financial condition and results aragions.

Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quatteor annual basis and cause volatility in the jge of our stock.

17




Table of Contents

Our revenues and operating results could vary fségmitly from period-to-period and may fail to mlatour past performance because
of a variety of factors, some of which are outsileur control. Any of these factors could causeghice of our common stock to fluctuate.
Factors that could contribute to the variabilityoofr operating results include:

» the amount of defaulted student loans and oth&ivables that our clients place with us for recgy

» the timing of placements of student loans and atbegivables which are entirely in the discretibowr clients

» the schedules of government agencies for awgubmtracts including the impact of any protedegifin connection with the
award of any such contracts;

e our ability to successfully identify improper Blieare claims and the number and type of poteptiaiproper claims that CMS
authorizes us to pursue under our RAC contact;

» theloss or gain of significant clients or changethe contingency fee rates or other significaniris of our business arrangeme
with our significant clients;

» technological and operational issues that may &ffecclients and regulatory changes in the manketservice; ar

» general industry and macroeconomic conditi

For example, a technology system upgrade at thafrapnt of Education significantly decreased thiewe of student loan
placements by the Department of Education to athvery vendors, including us. While we and the otbeovery vendors began to receive
larger placement volumes in the fourth quarter@if2 the majority of the revenues from these plaggmwere delayed until the three months
ended September 30, 2013, because we do not lzegarr rehabilitation revenues from a given plaggmatil at least nine months after
receipt of a placement. In addition, for approxiaetatwelve months beginning in September 2011, bseaf this technology system upgrade,
the Department of Education was not able to proagsstion of rehabilitated student loans and atiogty we were not able to recognize
certain revenues associated with rehabilitatioloaffis for this client. However, the Department diEation continued to pay us based on
invoices submitted and we recorded these cashptsces deferred revenues on our balance sheet.

Similarly, in our healthcare markets, our claimaeery volume related to PIP providers in our redias been limited and we estimate
that PIP providers in our region account for apprately 20% of Medicare claims. PIP providers @ienbursed for Medicare claims through
different processes than other healthcare provided technology adjustments were necessary toipaumomated processing of claims
involving PIP providers. Prior to April 2012, we menot permitted to audit Medicare claims for thB#e providers and the improper payme
to PIP providers that we identified beginning inrh@012 were not processed by CMS until Januard/320vhen a small portion of such
payments began to be processed manually. In Jur® ZMS implemented the system adjustment necefsaayitomated processing of
claims, which allowed us to recognize approximagilg million in 2013.

Downturns in domestic or global economic conditioaad other macroeconomic factors could harm our lnmsss and results of operations.

Various macroeconomic factors influence our busireesl results of operations. These include themelaf student loan originations
in the United States, together with tuition costd atudent enroliment rates, the default rateuddestt loan borrowers, which is impacted by
domestic and global economic conditions, ratesnefmployment and similar factors, and the growthigdicare expenditures resulting from
changes in healthcare costs. For example, durimgltibal financial crisis beginning in 2008, therked for securitized student loan portfolios
was disrupted, resulting in delays in the abilitsome GA clients to resell rehabilitated studeatls and, as a result, delays our ability to
recognize revenues from these rehabilitated ld@hanges in the overall economy could lead to aatémtuin overall recovery rates by our
clients, which in turn could adversely affect ousimess, financial condition and results of opersti

We may not be able to maintain or increase our prability, and our recent financial results may ndte indicative of our future financial
results.

We may not succeed in maintaining our profitabititya quarterly or annual basis and could incurtgus or annual losses in future
periods. We have incurred additional operating agpe associated with being a public company aniet@ad to continue to increase our
operating expenses as we grow our business. Weatsxt to continue to make investments in our ipetgry technology platform and hire
additional employees and subcontractors as we elxpanhealthcare recovery and other operations, itheurring additional expenses. If our
revenues do not increase to offset these incrélasegenses, our
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operating results could be adversely affected. ligiorical revenues and net income growth ratesiaréndicative of future growth rates.

We may not be able to manage our growth effectivayl our results of operations could be negativaffected.

Our business has expanded significantly, espedialigcent years with the expansion of our servicgle healthcare market, and we
intend to maintain our focus on growth. However, cantinued focus on growth and the expansion obmsiness may place additional
demands on our management, operations and finaesialirces and will require us to incur additicargdenses. We cannot be sure that we wi
be able to manage our growth effectively. In otdesuccessfully manage our growth, our expensdsneilease to recruit, train and manage
additional qualified employees and subcontractorsta expand and enhance our administrative infrestre and continue to improve our
management, financial and information systems amdals. If we cannot manage our growth effectivelyr expenses may increase and our
results of operations could be negatively affected.

A failure of our operating systems or technologyfiastructure, or those of our thir-party vendors and subcontractors, could disrupeth
operation of our business.

A failure of our operating systems or technolodyastructure, or those of our thighrty vendors and subcontractors, could disrug
operations. Our operating systems and technoldggsimucture are susceptible to damage or intdongtom various causes, including acts of
God and other natural disasters, power losses, gmpystems failures, Internet and telecommurdnatbdr data network failures, operator
error, computer viruses, losses of and corruptiottata and similar events. The occurrence of arthede events could result in interruptions,
delays or cessations in service to our clientajeedhe attractiveness of our recovery servicesiteent or potential clients and adversely
impact our financial condition and results of opieras. While we have backup systems in many ofoparating facilities, an extended outage
of utility or network services may harm our abilityoperate our business. Further, the situatienglan for and the amount of insurance
coverage we maintain for losses as result of faflwf our operating systems and infrastructure nodye adequate in any particular case.

If our security measures are breached or fail andauthorized access is obtained to our cli€’ confidential data, our services may be
perceived as insecure, the attractiveness of owonreery services to current or potential clients mag reduced, and we may incur significa
liabilities.

Our recovery services involve the storage and tnésmon of confidential information relating to atlients and their customers,
including health, financial, credit, payment antdestpersonal or confidential information. Althougir data security procedures are designi
protect against unauthorized access to confidenfiamation, our computer systems, software artd/okks may be vulnerable to unauthori
access and disclosure of our clients’ confidentifrmation. Further, we may not effectively adapt security measures to evolving security
risks, address the security and privacy concermexisfing or potential clients as they change divee, or be compliant with federal, state, and
local laws and regulations with respect to secucimgfidential information. Unauthorized accessdafiential information relating to our
clients and their customers could lead to reputatidamage which could deter our clients and piatieclients from selecting our recovery
services, or result in termination of contractshwiitose clients affected by any such breach, régylaction, and claims against us.

In the event of any unauthorized access to persorather confidential information, we may be reqdito expend significant
resources to investigate and remediate vulneriasilih our security procedures, and we may be stfnidines, penalties, litigation costs, and
financial losses that are either not insured aganeot fully covered through any insurance mairgd by us. If one or more of such failures in
our security and privacy measures were to occurbosiness, financial condition and results of afiens could suffer.

Our business may be harmed if we lose members ofroanagement team or other key employees.

We are highly dependent on members of our managetessm and other key employees and our future ssadepends in part on our
ability to retain these people. Our inability tantioue to attract and retain members of our managéteam and other key employees could
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

The growth of our healthcare business will requites to hire and retain employees with specializedlsland failure to do so could harm ot
ability to grow our business.

The growth of our healthcare business will depenplairt on our ability to recruit, train and managklitional qualified employees.
Our healthcare-related operations require us ®reigistered nurses and experts in Medicare co#linging, attracting and retaining
employees with these skills is a critical comporanroviding our healthcare-related
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recovery and audit services, and our inabilitytedfshese operations appropriately representskatoi our healthcare service offering and
associated revenues. An inability to hire qualifeuisonnel, particularly to serve our healthcaients, may restrain the growth of our business

We rely on subcontractors to provide services to dients and the failure of subcontractors to perin as expected could harm our busine
operations and our relationships with our clients.

We engage subcontractors to provide certain sexv@eur clients. These subcontractors particifgatarying degrees in our recovery
activities with regards to all of the services wevide. While most of our subcontractors providedfic services to us, we engage one
subcontractor to provide all of the audit and regg\services under our contract with CMS withincation of our region. While we believe t
we perform appropriate due diligence before we $ifgcontractors, our subcontractors may not proadguate service or otherwise comply
with the terms set forth in their agreements. Eékient a subcontractor provides deficient perfooaao one or more of our clients, any such
client may reduce the volume of services we argigiog under an existing contract or may termirthgerelevant contract entirely and we may
face claims for breach of contract. Any such disinipin our relations with our clients as a regilservices provided by any of our
subcontractors could adversely affect our reveanesoperating results.

If our software vendors or utility and network praers fail to deliver or perform as expected ourdiness operations could be advers
affected.

Our recovery services depend in part on tipiadty providers, including software vendors antitytand network providers. Our abili
to service our clients depends on these third-gadyiders meeting our expectations and contrachbbdations in a timely and effective
manner. Our business could be materially and adieeadfected, and we might incur significant adatitl liabilities, if the services provided
these third-party providers do not meet our exgieta or if they terminate or refuse to renew thelationships with us on similar contractual
terms.

We are subject to extensive regulations regardihg tise and disclosure of confidential personal infieation and failure to comply with
these regulations could cause us to incur liab#é# and expenses.

We are subject to a wide array of federal and $ta¥s and regulations regarding the use and disdosf confidential personal
information and security. For example, the fedetgdlth Insurance Portability and Accountability AEt1996, as amended, or HIPAA, and
related state laws subject us to substantial otistnis and requirements with respect to the used@ulbsure of the personal health information
that we obtain in connection with our audit andrery services under our contract with CMS and wstastablish administrative, physical
and technical safeguards to protect the confidiytiaf this information. Similar protections exteéo the type of personal financial and other
information we acquire from our student loan, stateand federal receivables clients. We are reduio notify affected individuals and
government agencies of data security breachesvimgpprotected health and certain personally idiatie information. These laws and
regulations also require that we develop, implenagiot maintain written, comprehensive informatiocusity programs containing safeguards
that are appropriate to protect personally ideatiif information or health information against uhauized access, misuse, destruction or
modification. Federal law generally does not preestate law in the area of protection of personfdrimation, and as a result we must also
comply with state laws and regulations. Regulatibprivacy, data use and security requires thaineer significant expenses, which could
increase in the future as a result of additiongulations, all of which adversely affects our résolf operations. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations can result in penalties arsbime cases expose us to civil lawsuits.

Our student loan recovery business is subject tteasive regulation and consumer protection laws amak failure to comply with these
regulations and laws may subject us to liability @mnesult in significant costs.

Our student loan recovery business is subjectgolation and oversight by various state and fedsgeahcies, particularly in the area
of consumer protection. The Fair Debt Collectioad®ices Act, or FDCPA, and related state laws mpl®gpecific guidelines that we must
follow in communicating with holders of student tsaand regulates the manner in which we can readefaulted student loans. Some state
attorney generals have been active in this aream$umer protection regulation. We are subject,raad be subject in the future, to inquiries
and audits from state and federal regulators, disasdrequent litigation from private plaintiffegarding compliance under the FDCPA and
related state regulations. We are also subjetted-air Credit Reporting Act, or FCRA, which regalaconsumer credit reporting and may
impose liability on us to the extent adverse crididrmation reported to a credit bureau is falséaccurate. Our compliance with the FDCI
FCRA and other federal and state regulations tifi@tteour student loan recovery business may raésugignificant costs, including litigation
costs. We may also become subject to regulaticommylgated by the United States Consumer FinanctaeBtion Bureau, or CFPB, which v
established in July 2011 as part of the Dodd-Frartkto, among other things, establish regulati@garding consumer financial protection
laws. In addition, the CFPB has investigatory and

20




Table of Contents

enforcement authority with respect to whether pessare engaged in unlawful acts or practices imeotion with the collection of consumer
debts. On April 12, 2013, we received a Civil Inigative Demand, or a CID, from the CFPB requesgimsduction of documents and answers
to questions generally related to the Company’s deltection practices and procedures. The CFPBhbaslleged a violation by us of any law
or regulation. We responded to the CID, but hawebeen examined by the CFPB. In light of the pdbsilihat the CFPB may issue
interpretative regulations for the FDCPA, the issmeof such regulations could adversely affectmsiness and results of operations if we are
not able to adapt our services and client relalignssto meet any new regulatory structure that tighrequired.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and stasislaelating to corporate governance and publidaisce are creating uncertainty -
public companies, increasing legal and financiahptiance costs and making some activities more tiomsuming. These laws, regulations
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, asda result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byletgry and governing bodies. This could resultantinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitateddpying revisions to disclosure and governancetioes. We will continue to invest
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulatiansl standards, and this investment may resuttcireased general and administrative
expenses and a diversion of management’s time taatian from revenue-generating activities to cbamge activities. If our efforts to
comply with new laws, regulations and standardedffom the activities intended by regulatory ovgrning bodies due to ambiguities relatec
to their application and practice, regulatory auties may initiate legal proceedings against us @ business may be adversely affected.

However, for as long as we remain an “emerging ¢iiaempany” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Busirgtartups Act of 2012, or
the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain gkens from various reporting requirements thategrplicable to other public companies
that are not “emerging growth companies,” includibgt not limited to, not being required to compligh the auditor attestation requirements
of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, redudedasure obligations regarding executive compéoisan our periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requiremertisldfng a nonbinding advisory vote on executivenpensation and shareholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previouslyaygol. We may take advantage of these reportingnpiiens until we are no longer an
“emerging growth company.”

We will remain an “emerging growth comparfgt up to five years following our initial publidfering in August 2012, although if tl
market value of our common stock that is held by-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any Juné&fre that time, our revenues exceed $
billion, or we issue more than $1 billion in nonaeertible debt in a three-year period, we wouldsee® be an “emerging growth company” as
of the following December 31.

As a result of disclosure of information as a peibbmpany, our business and financial conditioreHaacome more visible, which we
believe may result in threatened or actual litigratincluding by competitors and other third partié such claims are successful, our business
operations and financial results could be adveragcted, and even if the claims do not resulitigation or are resolved in our favor, these
claims, and the time and resources necessarydtvesthem, could divert the resources of our mamage and adversely affect our business
operations and financial results. These factorédcalso make it more difficult for us to attractdaretain qualified employees, executive offic
and members of our board of directors.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrols in accordance with Section 404 of Sarbar@sley would impair our ability to
produce accurate and reliable financial statementghich would harm our stock price

We are subject to reporting obligations under ®ecfio4 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that require usdlude a management report on
our internal control over financial reporting inrannual report, which contains management’s agsa#sof the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. These requirensdirst apply to this annual report on Form 10-Kl aomplying with these requirements can
be difficult. For example, in June 2012, we detemdi that we had incorrectly accounted for our mtordg redeemable preferred stock, which
required audit adjusting entries for the thyear period ended December 31, 2011. Our failudetect this error was deemed to be a defici
in internal control and this deficiency was considkto be a material weakness. To address thitisity our independent registered public
accounting firm recommended that the Company eniphdse importance of thoroughly researching alV mecounting policies and revisiting
accounting policies set for existing transactiot®emwchanges in the business or reporting requiresmoeeur or are expected to occur. To
prevent issues like these in the future, we havstdr@d our technical accounting expertise and revappropriate, engaged outside consultant
with specialized knowledge.

Our management may conclude that our internal obatrer our financial reporting is not effective e/fave limited accounting
personnel and other resources with which to addressternal controls and procedures. If we faitilmely achieve and maintain the adequac
of our internal control over financial reportingeuwnay not be able to produce reliable financiabrepor help prevent fraud. Our failure to
achieve and maintain effective internal controlrdfirgancial reporting
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could prevent us from filing our periodic reports @timely basis, which could result in the lossnekstor confidence in the reliability of our
financial statements, harm our business and nedatiimpact the trading price of our common stock.

We are required to disclose changes made in oaimiak controls and procedures on a quarterly besiwever, our independent
registered public accounting firm is not requireddrmally attest to the effectiveness of our intrcontrol over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 until such time that we are no longeteanerging growth company” as defined in the JORS if we continue to take advantage
of the exemptions contained in the JOBS Act. Athstime, our independent registered public accogrfitm may issue a report that is adverse
in the event it is not satisfied with the leveladtich our controls are documented, designed oratipgy. Our remediation efforts may not ene
us to avoid a material weakness in the future.

Litigation may result in substantial costs of defes, damages or settlement, any of which could sabjes to significant costs and expens

We are party to lawsuits in the normal course ditess, particularly in connection with our studean recovery services. For
example, we are regularly subject to claims thahese violated the guidelines and procedures thst tve followed under federal and state
laws in communicating with consumer debtors. We matyultimately prevail or otherwise be able tdsfattorily resolve any pending or
future litigation, which may result in substantalsts of defense, damages or settlement. In thesfulve may be required to alter our business
practices or pay substantial damages or settleoosts as a result of litigation proceedings, witichld adversely affect our business
operations and results of operations.

We typically face a long period to implement a neantract which may cause us to incur expenses befae receive revenues from new
client relationships.

If we are successful in obtaining an engagemerit avitew client or a new contract with an existitignt, we typically have a
subsequent long implementation period in whichstvices are planned in detail and we integratd¢emimology, processes and resources
the clients operations. If we enter into a contract with & éent, we typically will not receive revenuestiiimplementation is completed a
work under the contract actually begins. Our cBanhy also experience delays in obtaining appravatielays associated with technology or
system implementations, such as the delays expederith the implementation of our RAC contracthw@MS due to an appeal by
competitors who were unsuccessful in bidding oncthr@ract. Because we generally begin to hire newl@yees to provide services to a new
client once a contract is signed, we may incurifigant expenses associated with these additioines ibefore we receive corresponding
revenues under any such new contract. If we arsumtessful in maintaining contractual commitmefisr the expenses we incur during our
typically long implementation cycle, our resultsogferations could be adversely affected.

If we are unable to adequately protect our propeey technology, our competitive position could barmed or we could be required to incl
significant costs to enforce our right:

The success of our business depends in part ugqoraprietary technology platform. We rely on a donmation of copyright, patent,
trademark, and trade secret laws, as well as ofidestiality procedures and non-compete agreemémesstablish and protect our proprietary
technology rights. The steps we have taken to dei®appropriation of our proprietary technology neyinsufficient to protect our propriete
information. Any infringement or misappropriatiohaur patents, trademarks, trade secrets, or atkedlectual property rights could adversely
affect any competitive advantage we currently dedwmay derive from our proprietary technologytfolan and we may incur significant co
associated with litigation that may be necessasnforce our intellectual property rights.

Claims by others that we infringe their intellectuaroperty could force us to incur significant casbr revise the way we conduct our
business.

Our competitors protect their proprietary rightsrbgans of patents, trade secrets, copyrights,rtrades and other intellectual
property. Any party asserting that we infringe, apigropriate or violate their intellectual propenityhts may force us to defend ourselves, and
potentially our clients, against the alleged clalthese claims and any resulting lawsuit, if sudtgssould be time-consuming and expensive
to defend, subject us to significant liability fd@mages or invalidation of our proprietary rigipievent us from operating all or a portion of
business or force us to redesign our serviceschntdogy platform or cause an interruption or cégeaf our business operations, any of
which could adversely affect our business and djpgraesults. In addition, any litigation relatihgthe infringement of intellectual property
rights could harm our relationships with currend @nospective clients. The risk of such claims wgsuits could increase if we increase the
size and scope of our services in our existing etarkr expand into new markets.
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We may make acquisitions that prove unsuccessfirgia or divert our resources and harm our results operations and stock price.

We may consider acquisitions of other companiesumindustry or in new markets. We may not be é&bleuccessfully complete any
such acquisition and, if completed, any such adprismay fail to achieve the intended financiadults. We may not be able to successfully
integrate any acquired businesses with our ownaanthay be unable to maintain our standards, canénadl policies. Further, acquisitions n
place additional constraints on our resources bgrting the attention of our management from othesiness concerns. Moreover, any
acquisition may result in a potentially dilutivesisnce of equity securities, the incurrence oftaudil debt and amortization of expenses
related to intangible assets, all of which couldeadely affect our results of operations and sfuase.

Our current or future indebtedness could adverseffect our business and financial condition and rede the funds available to us for oth
purposes, and our failure to comply with the coverts contained in our credit agreement could resirtan event of default that coul:
adversely affect our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2013, our total debt was $188lBon. For the year ended December 31, 2013 comsolidated interest expense
was $11.6 million. Our ability to make schedulegmants or to refinance our debt obligations anfiital our other liquidity needs depends on
our financial and operating performance, whichuigjsct to prevailing economic and competitive ctindis and to certain financial, business
and other factors beyond our control. We cannoteressurances that we will maintain a level of ¢lsias from operating activities sufficient
to permit us to pay the principal and interest anindebtedness and to fund our other liquiditydsedf our cash flows and capital resource:
insufficient to fund our debt service obligatiomglaallow us to maintain compliance with the coveésamder our credit agreement or to fund
our other liquidity needs, we may be forced to medar delay capital expenditures, sell assets eratipns, seek additional capital or restruc
or refinance our indebtedness. We cannot ensutevihavould be able to take any of these actiors, tthese actions would be successful and
permit us to meet our scheduled debt service dimigs or that these actions would be permitted uittketerms of our existing or future debt
agreements, including our credit agreement. If arnot make scheduled payments on our debt, wéeiith default and, as a result, our debt
holders could declare all outstanding principal andrest to be due and payable, the lenders underredit agreement could terminate their
commitments to lend us money and foreclose agHiestssets securing our borrowings and we coufdrioed into bankruptcy or liquidation.

Our debt agreements contain, and any agreemergfinance our debt likely will contain, financialérestrictive covenants that limit
our ability to incur additional debt, including fimance future operations or other capital needd,ta engage in other activities that we may
believe are in our long-term best interests, inclgdo dispose of or acquire assets. Our failureotmply with these covenants may result in an
event of default, which, if not cured or waivedultbaccelerate the maturity of our indebtednessult in modifications to our credit terms.
See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finh@ondition and Results of Operations - Liquidilyd Capital Resources - Long Term
Debt" in Item 7 below for a more detailed discussid our financial covenants as well as our curgtatus under these covenants. If our
indebtedness is accelerated, we may not have ismfficash resources to satisfy our debt obligatiorswe may not be able to continue our
operations as planned.

The price of our common stock could be volatile,capou may not be able to sell your shares at orabthe public offering price.

Since our initial public offering in August 2012et price of our common stock, as reported by NASDA&¥ ranged from a low sales
price of $7.11 on February 21, 2014 to a high spiee of $14.09 on March 4, 2013. The trading o€ our common stock may be
significantly affected by various factors, inclugirquarterly fluctuations in our operating resulte financial projections we may provide to
public, any changes in those projections or odurfaito meet those projections; changes in investord analysts’ perception of the business
risks and conditions of our business; our abilityrteet the earnings estimates and other performepeetations of financial analysts or
investors; unfavorable commentary or downgrademiostock by equity research analysts; changearicapital structure, such as future
issuances of debt or equity securities; lawsuitsatened or filed against us; strategic actionasbgr our competitors, such as acquisitions or
restructurings; new legislation or regulatory atsipchanges in our relationship with any of oungigant clients; fluctuations in the stock
prices of our peer companies or in stock markeggeimeral; and general economic conditions.

Our significant stockholder has the ability to infence significant corporate activities and our sifjoant stockholder’s interests may not
coincide with yours.

Parthenon Capital Partners beneficially owns apprately 32.4% of our common stock as of March 1142 As a result of its
ownership, Parthenon Capital Partners has thayatalinfluence the outcome of matters submitted tmte of stockholders and, through our
board of directors, the ability to influence deaisimaking with respect to our business directioth policies. Parthenon Capital Partners may
have interests different from our other stockhadterterests, and may vote in a
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manner adverse to those interests. Matters ovashwParthenon Capital Partners can, directly oréudly, exercise influence include:the
election of our board of directors and the appoertand removal of our officers;

* mergers and other business combination tramsestincluding proposed transactions that wouldltés our stockholders
receiving a premium price for their shares;

» other acquisitions or dispositions of businessessset:
» incurrence of indebtedness and the issuance ofyesggurities
» repurchase of stock and payment of dividends

» the issuance of shares to management under ouy éngentive plan:

In addition, Parthenon Capital Partners has a aotutal right to designate a number of directorpprionate to its stock ownership.
Further, under our amended and restated certifafatecorporation, Parthenon Capital Partners dmgdave any obligation to present to us,
and Parthenon Capital Partners may separately gucetporate opportunities of which it becomes awvaven if those opportunities are ones
that we would have pursued if granted the oppotyuni

If securities analysts do not publish research disecurities analysts or other third parties pulifisnaccurate or unfavorable research abo
us, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock reliesant jpn the research and reports that securitidgstaand other third parties choc
to publish about us. We do not control these atalysother third parties. The price of our comrstotk could decline if one or more
securities analysts downgrade our common stockara or more securities analysts or other thindigs publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about us or cease publishing reports aisout

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté incorporation and bylaws could impair a takeovattempt that our stockholders may
find beneficial.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaand amended and restated bylaws contain progisiat could have the effect of
rendering more difficult or discouraging an acdigsi deemed undesirable by our board of directors. corporate governance documents
include the following provisions: establishing asdified board of directors so that not all memloéimur board are elected at one time;
providing that directors may be removed by stocttes only for cause; authorizing blank check prefiéstock, which could be issued with
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights stipeto our common stock; limiting the ability otinstockholders to call and bring business
before special meetings and to take action by ewittonsent in lieu of a meeting; limiting our alilio engage in certain business combination
with any “interested stockholder,” other than Panibn Capital Partners, for a three-year perioafalig the time that the stockholder became
an interested stockholder; requiring advance naticgockholder proposals for business to be cotediuat meetings of our stockholders anc
nominations of candidates for election to our ba#rdirectors; requiring a super majority vote éartain amendments to our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amendetirastated bylaws; and limiting the determinatibthe number of directors on our board of
directors and the filling of vacancies or newlyatesl seats on the board, to our board of direthers in office. These provisions, alone or
together, could have the effect of delaying or ditg a change in control, could limit the oppoityrfor our stockholders to receive a premi
for their shares of our common stock, and could aféect the price that some investors are wiltimgay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties
Facilities

As of December 31, 2013, we operated five sepaféitee locations throughout the United States. Tergest of these facilities is in
Livermore, California and serves as our corporatdguarters, as well as a data center and produotiation. Our Livermore facility
represents approximately 50,291 square feet and lese expiration of September 2017. We alse Ipasduction centers in California,
Oregon, Florida and Texas and own a production/ciztéer in Oregon.

We believe that our facilities are adequate foreniroperations and that additional space will\mglable as required. See note (6) to
our consolidated financial statements includedvetege in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for infation regarding our lease obligations.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
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We are involved in various legal proceedings thisafrom our normal business operations. Thederacgenerally derive from our
student loan recovery services, and generally askéms for violations of the Fair Debt Collecti®nactices Act or similar federal and state
consumer credit laws. While litigation is inhergntinpredictable, we believe that none of thesel legaceedings, individually or collectively,
will have a material adverse effect on our finahc@ndition or our results of operations.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market For Our Common Equity

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gl&@méct market under the symbol “PFMT” on AugustA@12. Prior to that,
there was no public market for our common stocle H#ble sets forth, for the periods indicated belibw high and low sales prices per shal
our common stock as reported by NASDAQ since Au@Q0s012.

2012 High Low
Third Quarter (beginning August 10, 2012) 12.18 9.20
Fourth Quarter 11.84 7.55
2013

First Quarter 14.09 10.06
Second Quarter 13.26 9.25
Third Quarter 12.01 10.27
Fourth Quarter 11.02 9.26

On March 12, 2014, the closing price as reportetlABDAQ of our common stock was $7.86 per share.

Stockholders

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximatelydldérs of record of our common stock.

Dividends

Our board of directors does not currently intengag regular dividends on our common stock. Howewerexpect to reevaluate our
dividend policy on a regular basis and may, sulifgcompliance with the covenants in our credieagnent and other considerations,
determine to pay dividends in the future. Our &pilb pay dividends is subject to restrictive comets contained in our credit agreement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorizedi$suance under our equity compensation plans edound under Iltem 12 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated balance sheet dataleceinber 31, 2013 and 2012nd the selected consolidated statements of tiqes
data for each year ended December 31, 2013, 2042@l1 , have been derived from our audited catesteld financial statements which are
included elsewhere in this annual report. The setbconsolidated balance sheet data as of Dece3ib@011, 2010 and 2009, and the selecte
consolidated statements of operations data foyehes ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 have baeeddffom our audited consolidated
financial statements not included in this annual
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report. Historical results are not necessarilydative of future results. You should read the fwllty selected consolidated historical financial
data below in conjunction with the section titldddnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operatioraid
the consolidated financial statements, relatedsp@ied other financial information included in thisnual Report on Form 10-K. The selected
consolidated financial data in this section isinténded to replace the consolidated financiakstants and is qualified in its entirety by the
consolidated financial statements and related ramidsschedule included in this Annual Report oma6-K.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 255,30 $ 210,07 $ 162,97 $ 123,51¢ $ 109,83:
Operating expenses:

Salaries and benefits 96,76 83,00: 67,08 58,11 53,72¢

Other operating expense 85,67: 71,30t 49,19¢ 33,65¢ 32,11(

Impairment of trade name — — 13,40( — —
Total operating expenses 182,43: 154,30° 129,68: 91,76¢ 85,83¢
Income from operations 72,86¢ 55,76¢ 33,29: 31,75: 23,99
Debt extinguishment cosf$ — (3,679 — — —
Interest expense (11,569 (12,419 (13,530 (15,230 (16,017
Interest income 1 64 12t 11¢ 104
Income before provision for income taxes 61,30¢ 39,737 19,88¢ 16,63¢ 8,081
Provision for income taxes 24,967 16,78¢ 7,51¢ 6,664 3,071
Net income 36,33¢ 22,95 12,37: 9,97t 5,01C
Accrual for preferred stock dividends — 2,03¢ 6,49t 5,771 5,12¢
Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders $ 36,33¢ $ 20,91 $ 5871 % 420¢ % (115)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Net income (loss) per share attributable to com
shareholder®
Basic $ 0.71 % 0.4t $ 014 % 0.1C $ —
Diluted $ 0.7¢ % 044 $ 0.1t $ 0.0¢ $ =
Weighted average shares (in thousands)
Basic 47,49 43,98¢ 42,96 42,96 42,96
Diluted 49,38¢ 47,59¢ 45,74 45,01¢ 42,96:

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compasagproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lemsl in connection with our new
credit facility and approximately $0.3 million ohamortized debt issuance costs in connection wittotd credit facility.

(2) Please see Note 1 to our consolidated financitdrsants for an explanation of the calculationswflmsic and diluted net incor
per share of common stock.

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 81,90¢ $ 37,84: % 20,00¢ $ 11,07¢  $ 8,92«
Total assets 257,26( 211,74 182,29¢ 181,39( 180, 73!
Total debt 133,30 147,76 103,38 117,33: 127,29¢
Total liabilities 183,02t 187,67 139,75t 151,23: 161,07
Redeemable preferred stock — — 58,24¢ 51,75: 45,98:
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity 74,23¢ 24,07: (15,705 (21,599 (26,329
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ITEM 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Fiancial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

We provide technology-enabled recovery and relatelytics services in the United States. Our sesvieelp identify and recover
delinquent or defaulted assets and improper payrfenboth government and private clients in a Bn@nge of markets. Our clients typically
operate in complex and regulated environments atsbarce their recovery needs in order to redugsel® on billions of dollars of defaulted
student loans, improper healthcare payments amaogelnt state tax and federal treasury and otlueivables. We generally provide our
services on an outsourced basis, where we handlg arall aspects of our clients’ recovery processe

Our revenue model is generally success-based asmdees on the aggregate amount of funds thanakle our clients to recover.
Our services do not require any significant upfriarestments by our clients and offer our cliehis dpportunity to recover significant funds
otherwise lost. Because our model is based uposubeess of our efforts and the dollars we enalnle€lgents to recover, our business
objectives are aligned with those of our clientd e are generally not reliant on their spendinddeds. Furthermore, our business model doe
not require significant capital expenditures andd@enot purchase loans or obligations.

Sources of Revenues

We derive our revenues from services for clients Vrariety of different markets. These marketsudelour two largest markets,
student lending and healthcare, as well as our otlaekets which include but are not limited to dglient state taxes and federal Treasury an
other receivables.

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011

(in thousands)
Student Lending $ 163,70¢ $ 132,44¢ $ 122,25:
Healthcare 67,53: 54,74" 21,54¢
Other 24,06! 22,88: 19,17:
Total Revenues $ 255,30: $ 210,07. $ 162,97

Student Lending

We derive the majority of our revenues from theoxeey of student loans. These revenues are cotliessetd and consist primarily of
contingency fees based on a specified percentatie @mount we enable our clients to recover. @utingency fee percentage for a particula
recovery depends on the type of recovery facilitat¥e also receive incremental performance inceathased upon our performance as
compared to other contractors with the Departmégidoication, which are comprised of additional imegy allocation volumes and incentive
fees. We are currently subject to a competitivédaibhg process fro the next contract with the Dapant of Education.

Based on data compiled from over two decades ofrgapce with the recovery of defaulted student $pah the time we receive a
placement of student loans, we are able to makasonably accurate estimate of the recovery outsdikedy to be derived from such
placement and the revenues we are likely ablenerg¢e based on the anticipated recovery outcomes.

There are five potential outcomes to the studeart lecovery process from which we generate revefinese outcomes include: full
repayment, recurring payments, rehabilitation, lmsiructuring and wage garnishment. Of thesegdotential outcomes, our ability to
rehabilitate defaulted student loans is the magticant component of our revenues in this martanerally, a loan is considered successfull
rehabilitated after the student loan borrower hademine consecutive qualifying monthly payments @ client has notified us that it is
recalling the loan. Once we have structured andeémented a repayment program for a defaulted barowe (i) earn a percentage of each
periodic payment collected up to and includingfthal periodic payment prior to the loan being ddesed “rehabilitated” by our clients, and
(ii) if the loan is “rehabilitated,” then we areiga one-time percentage of the total amount oféineaining unpaid balance. The fees we are
paid vary by recovery outcome as well as by cohtfear non-government-supported student loans wegeanerally only paid contingency fees
on two outcomes: full repayment or recurring repagita. The table below describes our typical fagcstre for each of these five outcomes.
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Student Loan Recovery Outcomes

Full Repayment Recurring Payments Rehabilitation Loan Restructuring Wage Garnishment
 Repaymentin full of ¢ Regular structured » After a defaulted » Restructure and e If we are unable to
the loan payments, typically borrower has made nine consolidate a number of obtain voluntary
according to a renegotiatedconsecutive recurring outstanding loans into a repayment, payments may
payment plan payments, the loan is single loan, typically with be obtained through wage
eligible for rehabilitation one monthly payment andgarnishment after certain
an extended maturity administrative
requirements are met
* We are paid a * We are paid a * We are paid based or ¢« We are paid based or « We are paid a
percentage of the full percentage of each paymenpercentage of the overall percentage of overall percentage of each
payment that is made value of the rehabilitated value of the restructured payment
loan loan

For certain guaranty agency, or GA, clients, weehentered into Master Service Agreements, or M&ksler these agreements,
clients provide their entire inventory of outsoutdeans or receivables to us for recovery on afuske basis, rather than just a portion, as
with traditional contracts that are split amongioas service providers. In certain circumstancesgwgage subcontractors to assist in the
recovery of a portion of the client’s portfolio. Véiéso receive success fees for the recovery otloader MSAs and our revenues under MSA
arrangements include fees earned by the actifiesir subcontractors. As of December 31, 2013haethree MSA clients in the student Ic
market.

Healthcare

We derive revenues from the healthcare market pifiyrfaom our RAC contract, under which we are firame contractor responsible
for detecting improperly paid Part A and Part B idade claims in 12 states in the Northeastern drfi®tes. Revenues earned under the RA
contract are driven by the identification of impeoly paid Medicare claims through both automatedirmanual review of such claims. We are
paid contingency fees by CMS based on a percemfiattye dollar amount of claims recovered by CM& assult of our efforts. We recognize
revenue when the provider pays CMS or incurs aseptigainst future Medicare claims. The revenuese@gnize are net of our estimate of
claims that will be overturned by appeal followipgyment by the provider. We are currently subje@ tompetitive rebidding process for the
next RAC contract with CMS.

To accelerate our ability to provide Medicare aadhiti recovery services across our region follovangaward of our initial RAC
contract, we outsourced certain aspects of outhesk recovery process to three different subaottrs. Two of these subcontractors provide
a specific service to us in connection with oufmakarecovery process, and one subcontractor isgenb@ provide all of the audit and
recovery services for claims within a portion of oegion. We recognize all of the revenues gendragethe claims recovered through these
subcontractor relationships, and we recognizedhs that we pay to these subcontractors in oumsege

We have also recently begun utilizing our technglegabled services platform to provide audit, rezg\and analytical services for
private healthcare providers.

Other

We also derive revenues from the recovery of dekmy state taxes, and federal Treasury and otbeivables, default aversion
services for certain clients including financiadtitutions and the licensing of hosted technolagiut®ons to certain clients. For our hosted
technology services, we license our system andrate our technology into our clients’ operatidies,which we are paid a licensing fee. Our
revenues for these services include contingencs;, fees based on dedicated headcount to our chedtfiosted technology licensing fees.

Operating Metrics

We monitor a number of operating metrics in ordegvtaluate our business and make decisions regaodincorporate strategy. The
key metrics include Placement Volume, PlacemeneRe# as a Percentage of Placement Volume, Net GRattovery Volume and Claim
Recovery Fee Rate.
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Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(dollars in thousands)

Student Lending:

Placement Volume $ 6,607,48 $ 5,768,94 % 6,241,48.
Placement Revenue as a percentage of Placemenn¥olu 2.4&% 2.3(% 1.9€%
Healthcare:

Net Claim Recovery Volume $ 598,07 $ 482,20: $ 188,57«
Claim Recovery Fee Rate 11.2%% 11.39% 11.4%

Placement VolumeOur Placement Volume represents the dollar voluhtefaulted student loans first placed with us dgithe
specified period by public and private clientsifiecovery. Placement Volume allows us to measureract trends in the amount of inventory
our clients in the student lending market are pigevith us during any period. The revenues assetiaith the recovery of a portion of these
loans may be recognized in subsequent accountimgdge which assists management in estimating éutevenues and in allocating resources
necessary to address current Placement Volumes.

Placement Revenue as a Percentage of PlacemeninéoRliacement Revenue as a Percentage of Placemamh¥ @ calculated by
dividing revenues recognized during the specifiedqa by Placement Volume first placed with us dgrihat same period. This metric is
subject to some level of variation from period &ipd based upon certain timing differences inaigdbut not limited to, the timing of
placements received by us within a period anddlethat a significant portion of revenues recogdiin a current period is often generated
from the Placement Volume received in prior periddiswever, we believe that this metric providessaful indication of the revenues we are
generating from Placement Volumes on an ongoing laaml provides management with an indication efrtHative efficiency of our recovery
operations from period to period.

Net Claim Recovery Volum@®ur Net Claim Recovery Volume measures the doldmme of improper Medicare claims that we have
recovered for CMS during the applicable periodofetny amount that we have reserved to cover apfahealthcare providers. We are paid
recovery fees as a percentage of this recoveréd gl@ume. We calculate this metric by dividing alaim recovery revenues by our Claim
Recovery Fee Rate. This metric shows trends ivtheme of improper payments within our region afidves management to measure our
success in finding these improper payments, oweg.ti

Claim Recovery Fee Rat®ur Claim Recovery Fee Rate represents the walghterage percentage of our fees compared to asiou
recovered by CMS. This percentage primarily depemdthe method of recovery and, in some casesypieeof improper payment that we
identify. This metric helps management measuratheunt of revenues we generate from Net Claim Ragovolume.

Costs and Expenses

We generally report two categories of operatingemsies: salaries and benefits and other operatjpgner. Salaries and benefits
expenses consist primarily of salaries and perfageancentives paid and benefits provided to oysleyees. Other operating expense inclt
expenses related to our use of subcontractors;, pthduction related expenses, including costsaateml with data processing, retrieval of
medical records, printing and mailing services, aination and other outside services, as well ageg® corporate and administrative exper
In addition to our main components of operatingemges, in 2011 we incurred a $13.4 million impaintrexpense to write off the carrying
amount of the trade name intangible asset duertplan to retire our Diversified Collection Servicénc. trade name, which we report as
impairment of trade name. We expect a significamtipn of our expenses to increase as we grow osinbss. However, we expect certain
expenses, including our corporate and general aslrative expenses, to grow at a slower rate thamevenues. As a result, and over the long
term, we expect our overall expenses to modestiirdeas a percentage of revenues.

Factors Affecting Our Operating Results

Our results of operations are influenced by a nurobéactors, including allocation of placementwaile, claim recovery volume,
contingency fees, regulatory matters, effects ieihtlconcentration and macroeconomic factors.

Allocation of Placement Volum:

Our clients have the right to unilaterally set amtease or reduce the volume of defaulted stuldents or other receivables that we
service at any given time. In addition, many of mgovery contracts for student loans and othegivables are not exclusive, with our clients
retaining multiple service providers to servicetfmors of their portfolios. Accordingly, the numbafrdelinquent student loans or other
receivables that are placed with us may vary friome to time,
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which may have a significant effect on the amounat 8Bming of our revenues. We believe the majotdiexcthat influence the number of
placements we receive from our clients in the stttiean market include our performance under oistierg contracts and our ability to
perform well against competitors for a particulbertt. To the extent that we perform well under existing contracts and differentiate our
services from those of our competitors, we mayiveca relatively greater number of placements utidese existing contracts and may
improve our ability to obtain future contracts fraénese clients and other potential clients. Furttelays in placement volume, as well as
acceleration of placement volume, from any of @augé clients may cause our revenues and operatsults to vary from quarter to quarter.

Typically we are able to anticipate with reasonatieuracy the timing and volume of placements édudeed student loans and other
receivables based on historical patterns and regatamunication with our clients. Occasionally, lewmer, placements are delayed due to
factors outside of our control. For example, a hetbgy system upgrade at the Department of Edutaignificantly decreased the volume of
student loan placements by the Department of Eductd all recovery vendors, including us. While ared the other recovery vendors have
recently received substantially larger placemetime in the fourth quarter of 2012 as a resulhef¢completion of this technology system
upgrade, the majority of the revenues from theaegrhents were not recognized until the third quaft@013 because we do not begin to eart
rehabilitation revenues from a given placementl afieast nine months after receipt of a placemeraddition, for approximately twelve
months beginning in September 2011, the DepartafeBtiucation was not able to process a portiorebébilitated student loans and
accordingly we were not able to recognize certauenues associated with rehabilitation of loangHiw client. However, the Department of
Education continued to pay us based on invoicemitdnl and we recorded these cash receipts age@fevenues on our balance sheet.

Claim Recovery Volume

While we are entitled to review Medicare recordsdlh Part A and Part B claims in our region, we aot permitted to identify an
improper claim unless that particular type of cldias been pre-approved by CMS to ensure compliaitbeapplicable Medicare payment
policies, as well as national and local coveragerd@nations. The growth of our revenues is deteetiiprimarily by the aggregate volume of
Medicare claims in our region and our ability tendify improper payments within these claims. Hoargthe long-term growth of these
revenues will also be affected by the scope ofstees pre-approved by CMS.

Our claim recovery volume related to PIP providarsur region has been limited and we estimateRttproviders in our region
account for approximately 20% of Medicare claim® providers are reimbursed for Medicare claimsuigh different processes than other
healthcare providers, and technology adjustmente wecessary to permit automated processing aghslaivolving PIP providers. Prior to
April 2012, we were not permitted to audit Medical@ms for these PIP providers and the impropgmuants to PIP providers that we
identified beginning in April 2012 were not proced$y CMS until January 2013, when a small portibsuch payments began to be proce
manually. In June 2013, CMS implemented the systdjustment necessary for automated processingiofig] which allowed us to recognize
approximately $12 million in revenues for 2013.

Our audit activities under the RAC contract areently set to expire in June 2014. In planningtfe award of the next RAC
contracts, CMS has been developing transition ghoes that will affect our operations during thensition period. In this regard, CMS
permitted us to submit medical records requests feelbruary 21, 2014. In addition, CMS has placestrictions on the types of claims and the
amount of certain medical records requests thanase make during the transition period, and CMSrhaitained a long-running prohibition
on requesting medical records from PIP providengiothan for a three week period that began inQatimber 2013. We expect that these
transition rules will have an adverse effect onmewenues during 2014. In addition, CMS has implaex rules that, during the period
October 1 through December 31, 2013, we and ther ®AC contractors will not be able to review andi(i) whether inpatient care
delivered to patients with hospital stays lastiegslthan two midnights was medically necessarnttaréfore deserving of the higher
reimbursement levels under Medicare Part A omflipther inpatient treatment was medically necesargdmissions spanning more than twc
midnights. In connection with these restrictionsspitals cannot bill CMS for outpatient serviceshaspital stays lasting less than two
midnights during such period. CMS has subsequextignded this rule for hospitals until SeptemberZ814. Also, during this time, CMS has
initiated a provider education and compliance nevpeogram.

Fees associated with recoveries initiated by usdapon improper claims for inpatient reimbursentdrthese short stays have
represented a substantial portion of the revengelave earned under our recovery and audit confreetsuspension of this type of review
activity could have a material adverse effect on2ll4 healthcare revenues and operating resejpgndling on a variety of factors including,
among other things, CMS'’s evaluation of providemptiance with the new rules, the rules ultimatedpgted by CMS with respect to medical
necessity reviews of Medicare reimbursement classociated with short stay inpatient admissions eaude generally, the scope of improper
claims that CMS allows us to pursue and our abititguccessfully identify improper claims withiretpermitted scope. In connection with the
award of the new
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RAC contract, CMS has indicated that it is reviegvirertain aspects of the RAC contract includingatmunt of medical records that RAC
vendors may request and the timeframes for reviehstatus communications between RAC vendors amddars.

Contingency Fees

Our revenues consist primarily of contract-basettingency fees. The contingency fee percentagesvia@arn are set by our clients
or agreed upon during the bid process, and maygehtom time to time either under the terms of &xgscontracts or pursuant to the terms of
contract renewals. For example, we have been atithisd our contractual arrangement with the Depamtrof Education is under review as a
result of the Department of Education’s decisiohdee its recovery vendors promote IBR to defaustedent loans. The IBR program
provides flexibility on the required monthly paynméor student loan borrowers at an amount intertdduk affordable based on a borrower’s
income and family size. As a result of the increlaaeplication of the IBR program to defaulted stutdeans, we expect that there will be an
increase in the number of loans that become edidii rehabilitation because more defaulted stultemt borrowers will be able to make
qualifying payments. In connection with the implenaion of the IBR program, the Department of Ediacereduced the contingency fee rate
that we receive for rehabilitating student loansapproximately 13% effective March 1, 2013. In diddi, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013,
which was signed into law by President Obama orebBdaer 26, 2013, reduced the compensation paid ®fG#the rehabilitation of student
loans, effective July 1, 2014. This "revenue enkament" measure will reduce from 18.5% to 16% ofdthtstanding loan balance, the amount
that GAs can charge borrowers when a rehabilititaa is sold and will eliminate entirely the GAsenetion of 18.5% of the outstanding loan
balance as a fee for rehabilitation services. linislear how the reduction of fees that the GAsikexwill impact the contingency fee
percentage that we receive from the GAs for asgjsti the rehabilitation of defaulted student Igdrsnever, any material decrease in this
contingency fee percentage would result in a dser@aour revenues.

Regulatory Matters

Each of the markets which we serve is highly ref@alaAccordingly, changes in regulations that dftbe types of loans, receivables
and claims that we are able to service or the ntannghich any such delinquent loans, receivabtes@aims can be recovered will affect our
revenues and results of operations. For exampepdlssage of the Student Aid and Fiscal RespoitgiAit, or SAFRA, in 2010 had the effect
of transferring the origination of all governmenipported student loans to the Department of Edocathereby ending all student loan
originations guaranteed by the GAs. Loans guardrigdghe GAs represented approximately 70% of guwent-supported student loans
originated in 2009. While the GAs will continuegervice existing outstanding student loans for yéacome, this legislation will over time
shift the portfolio of student loans that we mantayeard the Department of Education, and furthercentrate our sources of revenues and
increase our reliance on our relationship withBlegpartment of Education. In addition, our entryitiie healthcare market was facilitated by
passage of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act 662Which mandated CMS to contract with privatenBrto audit Medicare claims in an efl
to increase the recovery of improper Medicare paymeiny changes to the regulations that affecsthdent loan industry or the recovery of
defaulted student loans or the Medicare prograneigdly or the audit and recovery of Medicare clatoald have a significant impact on our
revenues and results of operations.

Client Concentration

Our revenues from the student loan market deperalipability to maintain our contracts with sometleé largest providers of student
loans. In 2013, three providers of student loarch e@counted for more than 10% of our revenuesidwgiich period and they collectively
accounted for 49% of our total revenues during pleisod. Our contracts with these clients enttlent to unilaterally terminate their contrac
relationship with us at any time without penalfywk lose one of our significant clients, includiifigne of our significant clients is
consolidated by an entity that does not use owicas, if the terms of compensation for our servickange or if there is a reduction in the |
of placements provided by any of these clients,reuenues could decline.

Our contract with CMS for the recovery of impropéedicare payments began generating significantmee® during 2011 and
represented 26% of our total revenues in both@ftars ended December 31, 2012 and 2013. Ounaoditunder the RAC contract is
currently set to expire in June 2014, and we areeatly participating in a competitive bidding pess for the next RAC contract, but this
process may be delayed due in part to protestsiiyeour competitors. While we believe our perfoneeunder the existing agreement and the
experience we have gained in performing this cabasition us well to renew the agreement, faitoreenew the agreement or renewal on
substantially less favorable terms could signifttaharm our revenues and results of operations.

Macroeconomic Factor:
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Certain macroeconomic factors influence our busirzesl results of operations. These include theasing volume of student loan
originations in the U.S. as a result of increasstibn costs and student enrollment, the defauét od student loan borrowers, the growth in
Medicare expenditures resulting from increasindtheare costs, as well as the fiscal budget tighteof federal, state and local governments
as a result of general economic weakness and laxeevenues.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States, or
GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated finalrgtiatements requires us to make estimates anthpiens that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costeapdnses and related disclosures. We base omrag¢ssi on historical experience and on va
other assumptions that we believe to be reasommgler the circumstances. In many instances, waldwue reasonably used different
accounting estimates, and in other instances clsangbe accounting estimates are reasonably licebccur from period-to-period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ signifiadgnfrom the estimates made by our managementh&exktent that there are material
differences between these estimates and actudis;esur future financial statement presentatiamricial condition, results of operations and
cash flows will be affected. We believe that thecamting policies discussed below are criticalnderstanding our historical and future
performance, as these policies relate to the nigréfisant areas involving management’s judgmemts astimates.

Revenue Recognitio

The majority of our contracts are contingency fasdal. We recognize revenues on these contingeadyated contracts when third-
party payors remit payments to our clients or rgraitments to us on behalf of our clients, and, equently, the contingency is deemed to |
been satisfied. Under our RAC contract with CMS re@gnize revenues when the healthcare providepaia CMS for a given claim or
incurs an offset against future Medicare claimsviRiers have the right to appeal a claim and magymiadditional appeals if the initial appeal
is found in favor of CMS. We accrue an estimatedility for appeals based on the amount of commissieceived which are subject to apy
and which we estimate are probable of being retitagroviders following successful appeal. Thisneated liability for appeals is an offset
revenues on our income statement. Our estimatdsagexl on our historical experience with appealsigcunder our CMS contract since
January 2010. During the year ended December 3B 2@e reserved an amount equal to 16.1% of gexg&nues from our CMS contract. We
increased our estimated liability for appeals in2@due to recent trends in our historical dataedldo the likelihood of successful appeals.
Commencing on December 31, 2011, we establishegaate line item in the current liabilities sectaf our balance sheet entitleBstimatec
liability for appeals” to reflect our estimate big liability. The $15.3 million balance as of Dedeer 31, 2013 , represents our best estimate ¢
the probable amount of losses related to appeaiohs for which commissions were previously odtibel. We estimate that it is reasonably
possible that we could be required to pay up tadditional approximately $4.5 million as a resdlpotentially successful appeals. To the
extent that required payments by us related toessfal appeals exceed the amount accrued, reventresapplicable period would be redu
by the amount of the excess. We similarly accruellmvance against accounts receivable relatednmassions yet to be collected, which»
$1.2 million as of December 31, 201Based on the same estimates used to establigistihreated liability for appeals of commissionseiged.
Our inability to correctly estimate the estimatedbilities and allowance against accounts receevablild adversely affect our revenues in
future periods.

Goodwill

We periodically review the carrying value of intélrlg assets not subject to amortization, includjogdwill, to determine whether an
impairment may exist. GAAP requires that goodwiltlaertain intangible assets not subject to anatitim be assessed annually for
impairment using fair value measurement techniques.

The balance of goodwill was $81.6 million as of Beaber 31, 2013. We review goodwill for impairmentfiost assessing qualitative
factors to determine whether it is more likely theot that the fair value of the reporting unitésd than its carrying amount, including good
as a basis for determining whether it is necessapgrform the two-step goodwill impairment. Iistdetermined that it is not more likely than
not that the fair value of the reporting unit isdghan its carrying amount, we conclude that gab@anot impaired. If it is determined that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of theagng unit is less than its carrying amount, wadact detailed impairment testing. The first
step of the goodwill impairment testing involvesirsting the fair value of the reporting unit arehgparing this to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the carrying amount of theporting unit exceeds its fair value, the secorg sf the twostep goodwill impairment test
performed to measure the amount of impairment ibasyy. The second step of the goodwill impairmiest compares the implied fair value of
the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying aomd of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of theporting unit's goodwill exceeds the
implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairmeoss is recognized in an amount equal to that exddse implied fair value of goodwill is
determined in the same manner as the amount ofiglbodcognized in a business combination. Thatlig, fair value of the reporting unit is
allocated to all of the assets and liabilities
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of that unit as if the reporting unit had been aegliin a business combination and the fair vafuth® reporting unit was the purchase price
paid to acquire the reporting unit.

Impairments of Depreciable Intangible Asse

The balance of depreciable intangible assets wa$$8illion as of December 31, 2013. We evaluatgeigable intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurastaimdicate that the carrying amount of such assal not be recoverable. Depreciable
intangible assets consist of client contracts atated relationships, and are being amortized thesr estimated useful life, which is generally
20 years. We evaluate the client contracts intdegibthe individual contract level. The recoveliabdf such assets is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount of the assefsttoe undiscounted net cash flows expected togmegted by the assets. If the assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/iceymamount of the assets exceeds the
fair value of the assets. There was no impairmepéese for depreciable intangible assets in 20082 2r 2011 .

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the Yeuateld December 31, 2012
The following table represents our historical ofiagaresults for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 255,30: $ 210,07: $ 45,22¢ 22%
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 96,76 83,00: 13,76( 17%
Other operating expense 85,67: 71,30¢ 14,36¢ 20 %
Total operating expenses 182,43: 154,30° 28,12¢ 18 %
Income from operations 72,86¢ 55,76¢ 17,10: 31%
Debt extinguishment costs — (3,679 3,67¢ (100%
Interest expense (11,569 (12,419 85C (7%
Interest income 1 64 (63) (98)%
Income before provision for income taxes 61,30¢ 39,731 21,56¢ 54 %
Provision for income taxes 24,967 16,78t 8,181 49 %
Net income 36,33¢ 22,95: 13,38t¢ 58 %
Accrual for preferred stock dividends — 2,03¢ (2,039 (2100%
Net income available to common shareholders $ 36,33¢ $ 20,91: $ 15,42¢ 74%
Revenue:

Total revenues were $255.3 million for the yeareshBecember 31, 2013, an increase of $45.2 midia22%, compared to total
revenues of $210.1 million for the year ended Ddzem31, 2012. This increase is due to growth ieneres in both our student lending and
healthcare markets.

Student lending revenues were $163.7 million ferybar ended December 31, 2013, representing srase of $31.3 million, or
24%, compared to the year ended December 31, dBiincrease was primarily a result of volume gitowf student loan placements during
the second half of 2012, which led to an increaselabilitation revenues for the year ended Deeerél, 2013, and continued execution on :
contract involving a specialized portfolio of statiétoans with one of our leading GA clients.

Healthcare revenues were $67.5 million for the yated December 31, 2013, representing an inceé&?.8 million, or 23%,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012ifdrsase was primarily a result of higher net clagmovery volume under our RAC
contract.

Salaries and Benefit:

Salaries and benefits expense was $96.8 milliothi®year ended December 31, 2013, an increast3d $illion, or 17%, compare
to salaries and benefits expense of $83.0 mill@ritfe year ended December 31, 2012. This inclisgs@marily due to an increase in
employee headcount to support operational growéte® to the recovery of student loans.
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Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $85.7 million for tharyended December 31, 2013, an increase of $lHlidnmor 20%, compared to
other operating expense of $71.3 million for tharyended December 31, 2012. This increase is pljntare to increased costs related to our
use of subcontractors and consultants, productifaned expenses associated with data processtrigyvet of medical records, printing and
mailing services, and higher spending on profesgiservices related to operating as a public compan

Income from Operation:

As a result of the factors described above, incbora operations was $72.9 million for the year eh@ecember 31, 2013, compared
to $55.8 million for the year ended December 31,220epresenting an increase of $17.1 million, 1563

Debt Extinguishment Cost

We did not incur any debt extinguishment costdtieryear ended December 31, 2013. In March 2012newered debt
extinguishment costs of $3.7 million in connectiwith a new credit facility.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense was $11.6 million for the yeareérdecember 31, 2013 compared to $12.4 millioritferyear ended December 31,
2012, representing a decrease of 7%. Interest sgpiacreased due to repayments of principal undesredit agreement, resulting in a lower
outstanding balance during 2013.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $25.0 million for the yemleel December 31, 2013 compared to $16.8 milliotHe year ended
December 31, 2012, representing an increase o¥@8onsistent with the increase in income beforeipion for income taxes. Our effective
income tax rate decreased to 40.7% for the yeagceB@cember 31, 2013 from 42.2% for the year epsbmber 31, 2012. The decrease in
the effective tax rate is the result of approxirha@7% decrease due to changes in the state texanad approximately 1% decrease due to
income tax benefits associated with increasesickstptions exercises as a result of two followofferings during the year, and the end of the
lock-up periods for certain employees. These deeewere offset by approximately a 1.7% increaserasult of the non-deductible expenses
associated with the follow on offerings. The 20ff2a&ive tax rate includes a one time tax expensetd the non-deductible termination of an
advisory services agreement of approximately 1.9%.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netrmewas $36.3 million for the year ended DecemltieB13, which represented an
increase of $13.4 million compared to net incom&28.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012

Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared to the Yertell December 31, 2011

The following table presents our historical opergtiesults for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues 210,07 $ 162,97: $ 47,09¢ 28%
Operating expenses:

Salaries and benefits 83,00: 67,08: 15,92( 24%
Other operating expense 71,30¢ 49,19¢ 22,10¢ 45 %
Impairment of trade name — 13,40( (13,400 (100%
Total operating expenses 154,30° 129,68: 24,62¢ 19%
Income from operations 55,76¢ 33,29¢ 22,47 68 %
Debt extinguishment costs (3,679 — (3,679 — %
Interest expense (12,419) (23,530 1,11¢ (8)%
Interest income 64 12t (612) (49%
Income before provision for income taxes 39,73° 19,88¢ 19,84¢ 10C %
Provision for income taxes 16,78¢ 7,51¢ 9,27( 12: %
Net income 22,95: 12,37: 10,57¢ 86 %
Accrual for preferred stock dividends 2,03¢ 6,49t (4,45%) (69%
Net income available to common shareholders 20,91 $ 5871 $ 15,03¢ 25€ %

Revenues

Total revenues were $210.1 million for the yeareshBecember 31, 2012, an increase of $47.1 milbo28.9%, compared to total
revenues of $163.0 million for the year ended Ddmam31, 2011. This increase in revenues is prisndrike to an increase of $33.2 million in
revenues received from CMS under our RAC contraet eesult of higher claim recovery volume andramease of $4.8 million generated
from a new default-aversion service contract thatimenced in May 2012, for a new service offeringpravide in other markets we serve.
Revenues from student lending increased by 8.320112 to $132.4 million from $122.2 million in theigr year period.

Salaries and Benefit:

Salaries and benefits expense was $83.0 milliothi®year ended December 31, 2012, an increasesd #illion, or 23.7%,
compared to salaries and benefits expense of $6iMlidn for the year ended December 31, 2011. Tinisease is primarily due to hiring of n
employees to provide services under our RAC conwé@h CMS, an increase in expenses associatedthatiengagement of additional softw
engineers to assist in the integration of a regeatttjuired software license and an increase inresgseassociated with the hiring of additional
administrative employees.

Other Operating Expense

Other operating expense was $71.3 million for tharyended December 31, 2012, an increase of $2Ridnmor 44.9%, compared to
other operating expense of $49.2 million for tharyended December 31, 2011. This increase is phinthre to (i) an additional $10 million of
subcontractor fees incurred in connection withéased services provided under the RAC contrachMeBW@l contracts and (ii) $1.3 million paid
to an affiliate of Parthenon Capital Partners inr@xction with the termination of an advisory seegiagreement, and an additional $0.9 millior
paid to Parthenon Capital Partners at the closirogioinitial public offering also as a result tiettermination of the advisory agreement.

Impairment of Trade Namg

We did not recognize an impairment expense fongjitale assets in 2012. In 2011, we recorded $13lmof impairment expense
to write off the carrying value of our former tradame, Diversified Collection Services Inc., du®to decision to retire that trade name.

Income from Operation:

As a result of the factors described above, inciora operations was $55.8 million for the year eh@&cember 31, 2012, compared
to $33.3 million for the year ended December 31,120epresenting an increase of $22.5 million, ©6%o.
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Debt Extinguishment Cost

As a result of the entry into our new credit fagiind the repayment of all amounts owed undetloam existing credit facility in
March 2012, we incurred debt extinguishment cos&3c7 million, comprised of approximately $3.3 Iwih in fees paid to the lenders in
connection with our new credit facility and apprositely $0.3 million of unamortized debt issuancste@ssociated with our old credit facility.
We did not incur a similar expense in the year dridecember 31, 2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $12.4 million for the yeareerdecember 31, 2012, compared to $13.5 for thegreded December 31, 2011,
representing a decrease of $8.2% due to lowerisiteates under the new credit agreement as cothfzatle interest rates under our old cr.
agreement.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $16.8 million for the yemiee December 31, 2012, compared to $7.5 milliorthfe year ended December
31, 2011, representing an increase of 123.3% densiwith the increase in income before provisianificome taxes. Our effective income tax
rate increased to 42.2% for the year ended DeceBihe?012 from 37.8% for the year ended DecembgP@11. Approximately 2.5% of the
increase results from changes in the state taxwdiieh includes a 2011 one-time benefit from angjeain California tax law of 2.3%. In
addition, approximately 1.9% of the increase was thuthe non-deductible termination of an advisegvices agreement in 2012.

Net Income

As a result of the factors described above, netrmewas $23.0 million for the year ended DecembtieB12, which represented an
increase of $10.6 million compared to net incom&1#.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flowsrf operations, term loans, and the proceeds red¢érem our initial public offering
in August 2012. Cash and cash equivalents, whigtet $81.9 million as of December 31, 2013 , catriimarily of cash on deposit with
banks. We expect that operating cash flows wiltticare to be a primary source of liquidity for oyrevating needs. There are currently no
borrowings outstanding under our revolving creddility other than a $1.4 million letter of creditue to our operating cash flows, our existing
cash and cash equivalents and availability underexolving credit facility, we believe that we teathe ability to meet our working capital and
capital expenditure needs for the foreseeabledutur

The following table presents information regardiug cash flows for the years ended December 313 22012 and 2011 :

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 61,20¢ $ 37,008 $ 28,98¢
Net cash used in investing activities (12,509 (12,199 (6,117)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,63%) (6,979 (13,949

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating activities provided $61.2 million of catiring the year ended December 31, 2013 an inem@&b24.2 million, compared
cash provided by operating activities of $37.0 inillfor the year ended December 31, 2012, primaltly to net income of $36.3 million, an
increase in the estimated liability for appeal$b®.9 million associated with our RAC contract wgMS, collection of trade receivables of
$3.4 million, and an increase in accrued salamestgenefits of $2.5 million. These items were pélstioffset by various working capital
fluctuations such as a decrease in other currabilities and deferred revenue. The estimatedlifgtior appeals for revenue associated with
CMS totaled $15.3 million in 2013, compared $4.4lioni in 2012, due to higher claim recovery volumegler our RAC contract with CMS.

Operating activities provided $37.0 million of catiring the year ended December 31, 2012, an isereB$8.0 million, compared to
cash provided by operating activities of $29.0 imnillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 primallg to the increase in net income for the
year ended December 31, 2012 to $23.0 million coatpto $12.4 million for 201!
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Cash used to pay accrued salary and benefits dd®@l8 million in 2012, as compared to the $7.1liomlin accrued salaries and benefits
payable for the comparable period in 2011. Accopatsble increased $1.3 million in 2012 compare2iXbl, primarily due to timing. The
estimated liability for appeals for revenue assedavith CMS totaled $4.4 million in 2012, compafi5 million in 2011, due to higher cla
recovery volumes under our RAC contract with CMS.

We generated $29.0 million of cash from operaticiyvdies during the year ended December 31, 2@tifnarily resulting from our
net income of $12.4 million, non-cash depreciatod amortization of $7.8 million, an impairment erpe to write off the carrying amount of
the trade name intangible asset due to the retimeofehe Diversified Collection Services, Inc.deaname of $13.4 million and changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $3.8 millioffset by non-cash deferred income taxes of $9.6anil

Cash flows from investing activities

Investments in property, plant and equipment resltt cash outflow of $12.5 million during 2013rpéirily for purchases related to
information technology, data storage, hardwarecthmunication systems and security enhancements foroprietary software.

Investing activities resulted in cash outflow o2$ million during the year ended December 31, 2012 primary uses of cash
associated with investing activities in 2012 weté @ million for property, equipment and leasehaigrovements, to enhance our proprietary
technology platform, improve our telecommunicatisgstems, upgrade our IT infrastructure for storaye operating activities, and $0.8
million for the purchase of a perpetual softwacetise.

We used $6.1 million of cash in investing acti\stfer the purchase of property, equipment and kesldémprovements during the
year ended December 31, 2011, primarily for investis in information technology systems and infratrre to support increased busin
volumes.

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash used in financing activities of $4.6 milliond013 was due to the repayment of principal ostautling debt and other
contractual obligations of $15.5 million, offset &y income tax benefit of $9.1 million associatethuhe exercise of employee stock options,
and $1.8 million in proceeds received from the eiserof employee stock options.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, our primiaan€ing activities were $156 million in proceedsnfi term loans, $12.8 million
of net proceeds from our IPO which was completefiugust 2012, and $4.5 million in revolving crefditility borrowings. These proceeds
were offset by $103.4 million used for the repaytrarour old notes payable and repayment of pradogm our new term loans, $12.7 million
used for the repayment of our old and new linesredlit, $60.3 million used to redeem 5.3 milliormsds of preferred stock, and $3.1 million
used for debt issuance costs.

We used $13.9 million of cash in financing actrétifor the repayment of notes payable during tlae geded December 31, 2011.

Long-term Debt

On March 19, 2012, we, through our wholly ownedssdilary, entered into a $147.5 million credit agneat with Madison Capital
Funding LLC as administrative agent, ING Capitald s syndication agent, and other lenders partgttieThe senior credit facility consists
of (i) a $57.0 million term A loan that matureshtarch 2017, (ii) a $79.5 million term B loan thaatares in March 2018 , and (iii)) a $11.0
million revolving credit facility that expires in &ch 2017, which had a borrowing capacity of $9ilion as of December 31, 2013. On
June 28, 2012, we increased the amount of our wargs under our term B loan by $19.5 million. Weynadso request the lenders to increase
the size of the term B loan or other term loansipyo an additional $10.5 million at any time priotMarch 19, 2014.

All borrowings under the credit agreement bearr@gtat a rate per annum equal to an applicablgimplus, at our option, either (i)
base rate determined by reference to the highdsi die prime rate published in the Wall Streetrdal or another national publication, (b) the
federal funds rate plus 0.5%, and (c) 2.5% or(iiondon Interbank Offered Rate, or Libor, rateed®ined by reference to the highest of (a) a
Libor rate published in Reuters or another natigndilication and (b) 1.5%. The term A loan andrilving credit facility have an applical
margin of 4.25% for base rate loans and 5.25% fiooiLrate loans. The term B loan has an applicataegin of 4.75% for base rate loans and
5.75% for Libor rate loans. The minimum per annateriest rate that we are required to pay is 6.7&@%he term A loan and revolving credit
facility and 7.25% for the term B loan. Interestlige at the end of each month for base rate loashgtthe end of each Libor period for Libor
rate loans unless the Libor period is greater tharonths, in which case interest is due at thedagtof each 3-month interval of such Libor
period.
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The credit agreement requires us to prepay thedwo loans on a prorated basis and then to prémasetolving credit facility under
certain circumstances: (i) with 100% of the nethgaoceeds of any asset sale or other disposifiassets by us or our subsidiaries where the
net cash proceeds exceed $1 million, (ii) with eceetage of our annual excess cash flow each yleareasuch percentage ranges from 25%-
75% depending on our total debt to EBITDA ratiouegld by any voluntary prepayments that are madmioterm loans during the same
period and (iii) with any net cash proceeds frogqualified initial public offering by us, less naiogeeds applied to redeem any outstanding
preferred equity or convertible debt, to pay a canrshareholder dividend not to exceed $20 milliprifave comply with an adjusted
EBITDA ratio set forth in the agreement, to ourtchalances in an amount not to exceed $75 millide.applied the proceeds from our initial
public offering to our cash balances.

We have to abide by certain negative covenantedocredit agreement, which limit the ability farrcsubsidiaries and us to:

* incur additional indebtedne
e create or permit lien
» pay dividends or other distributions to our equbjders

e purchase or redeem certain equity interests oéquity holders, including any warrants, options atfter security right
e pay management fees or similar fees to any of quitgholders

* make any redemption, prepayment, defeasance, tegae®r any other payment with respect to any slitated deb

e consolidate or merg

» sell assets, including the capital stock of oursglibries

* enter into transactions with our affiliat

» enter into different business lines; .

* make investment

The credit agreement also requires us to meetiediancial covenants, including maintaining agfikcharge coverage ratio and a
total debt to EBITDA ratio as such terms are defiimeour credit agreement. These financial covenare tested at the end of each quarter

beginning on December 31, 2012. The table belothé&urdescribes these financial covenants, as welliastatus under these covenants as of
December 31, 2013 .

Covenant Actual Ratio at
Financial Covenant Requirement December 31, 2013
Fixed charge coverage ratio (minimum) 1.20t0 1.0 2.60
Total debt to EBITDA ratio (maximum) 3.25t0 1.0 1.53

Contractual Obligations
The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2013 :

Payments Due by Period

Less More

Than 1-3 3-5 Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-Term Debt Obligations $ 133,30: $ 10,76: $ 31,520 % 91,01¢ $ =
Interest Payments 34,46, 9,44¢ 23,58¢ 1,43 —
Operating Lease Obligations 6,62( 1,88: 2,92: 1,351 462
Purchase Obligations 7,165 6,82t 33¢ — —
Total $ 181,55 $ 28,917 $ 58,36¢ $ 93,80t $ 465

(1) We entered into our new credit agreement orcMa9, 2012 and amended it on June 28, 2012, allittutstanding
indebtedness under our prior loan facility paiduth Long-term debt obligations and interest paytsepresented in this
table relate solely to our new credit agreemengrasnded.
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Inconr

To provide investors with additional informatiorgegding our financial results, we have disclosethentable below and within this
report adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net incomeh lodtwhich are non-GAAP financial measures. We haewided a reconciliation below of
adjusted EBITDA to net income and adjusted netnmedo net income, the most directly comparable GAiABncial measure to these non-
GAAP financial measures.

We have included adjusted EBITDA and adjusted metre in this report because they are key meassezsby our management «
board of directors to understand and evaluate o gperating performance and trends and to prepat@pprove our annual budget.
Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA anquatied net income provide useful information toeastors and analysts in understanding
and evaluating our operating results in the sameneraas our management and board of directors.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net incbiaelimitations as an analytical tool, and you $thawt consider it in isolation ¢

as a substitute for analysis of our results asrtegainder GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

» although depreciation and amortization are nashacharges, the assets being depreciated andzedartay have to be replaced
in the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflexgh capital expenditure requirements for suclacements or for new
capital expenditure requirements;

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expenseur indebtednes

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, ohaasjuirements for, our working capital ne:

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payme

» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do afiect the potentially dilutive impact of equibased compensatic

» adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income do aflect the impact of certain non-operating expemssslting from matters we
do not consider to be indicative of our core opegaperformance; and

» other companies may calculate adjusted EBITDA atjdséed net income differently than we do, whictiuees its usefulness a
comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should considgrstéed EBITDA and adjusted net income alongsitiewntinancial performance
measures, including net income and our other GAgsRlts.

The following tables present a reconciliation ofusted EBITDA and adjusted net income for the yesided December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 to actual net income for these pgriod

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA:

Net income $ 36,33¢ $ 22,95 $ 12,37:
Provision for income taxes 24,96 16,78¢ 7,51¢
Interest expense 11,56¢ 12,41 13,53(
Interest income @ (64) (125)
Debt extinguishment cosfs — 3,67¢ —
Secondary offering expen&e 2,89: — —
Depreciation and amortization 10,65* 9,50¢ 7,76¢€
Impairment of trade nani& — — 13,40(
Non-core operating expensés — 47 2,54¢
Advisory fee® — 2,641 634
Stock based compensation 2,99¢ 1,61« 12C
Adjusted EBITDA $ 89,41. $ 69,57 $ 57,76
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Reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income:

Net income

Debt extinguishment costs
Secondary offering expen&e
Impairment of trade nani&
Non-core operating expensés
Advisory fee®

Stock based compensation
Amortization of intangible€
Deferred financing amortization costs
Tax adjustment®

Adjusted net income

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

36,33¢ $ 2295, $ 12,37:
— 3,67¢ —
2,89: — —
— — 13,40(

— 47 2,54¢

— 2,641 634
2,992 1,614 12C
3,731 3,67¢ 3,04:
1,12¢ 1,161 1,25¢
(4,297 (5,126) (8,400)
42,78° $ 30,647 $ 24,97

(1) Represents debt extinguishment costs compasagproximately $3.3 million of fees paid to lemsl in connection with our new
credit facility and approximately $0.3 million ohamortized debt issuance costs in connection wittotd credit facility.

(2) Represents direct and incremental costs associatiedhe Company's secondary offerings in Febraany April 2013

(3) Represents impairment expenses to write eftrrying amount of the trade name intangibletahse to the retirement of the

Diversified Collection Services, Inc. trade name.

(4)Represents professional fees and settlement @atsed to strategic corporate development actsvdied a $1.2 million legal

settlement in 2011.

(5)Represents expenses incurred under an advisongasglagreement with Parthenon Capital Partnergghwhias terminated in April
2012 and the August 2012 expense of $0.9 millioeasted with a payment to a financial advisoras pf the Company's

initial public offering. See Note 11 "Related PaFansactions.”

(6) Represents amortization of capitalized expenskated to the acquisition of Performant by ditiat of Parthenon Capital
Partners in 2004, and also an acquisition in tis §uarter of 2012 to enhance our analytics céipabi
(7) Represents amortization of capitalized financingtgoelated to debt offerings conducted in 2009028hd 201

(8) Represents tax adjustments assuming a marginshtaxf 40%
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Stansl@&alard, or FASB issued Accounting Standards Up@s®é)) 2011-11Balance
Sheet (Topic 210), Disclosures about Offsetting#ssand Liabilities updated by ASU 2013-0C|arifying the Scope of Disclosures about
Offsetting Assets and Liabilitieshich requires companies to disclose informatiooutiinancial instruments that have been offsetrafated
arrangements to enable users of the company'scfadatatements to understand the effect of thasmgements on the company's financial
position. Companies will be required to providetboét (offset amounts) and gross information inrtbies to the financial statements for
relevant assets and liabilities that are offsetU&2®11-11, as amended by ASU 2013-01, is effed¢tivdiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning on or after January 1, Z0i8.adoption of this guidance did not have a nteffect on our consolidated financial
statements.

In July 2012, FASB issued ASU No. 2012-0angibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): TestimglefiniteLived Intangible Asse
for Impairment. This newly issued accounting standard allows retityethe option to first assess qualitative fasttw determine whether it
necessary to perform a quantitative impairment feastindefiniteldived intangibles other than goodwill. Under thation, an entity would r
longer be required to calculate the fair value ofimdefinitelived intangible asset unless the entity determimesed on that qualitati
assessment, that it is more likely than not thatfétir value of the indefinitéved intangible asset is less than its carryingpant. This ASU i
effective for annual and interim indefinitied intangible asset impairment tests performmdical years beginning after September 15, 2
Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of thisdgnce did not have a material effect on our clidated financial statements.

In March 2013, FASB issued ASU No. 2013-@hligations Resulting from Joint and Several LiapilArrangements for which t
Total Amount of the Obligation is Fixed at the R#ipg Date, which addresses the recognition, measurementdactbsure of certain joi
and several obligations including debt arrangemenifser contractual obligations, and settled lifiga and judicial rulings. The ASU
effective for public entities for fiscal years, aimderim periods within those years, beginning mfiecember 15, 2013. The adoption of
guidance will not have a material effect on oursmitiated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We do not hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes. We conduct all of our busined$.8$ currency and therefore do
have any direct foreign currency risk. We do haxgosure to changes in interest rates with respetttet borrowings under our senior secured
credit facility, which bear interest at a variabd¢e based on the prime rate or LIBOR. For exampibe interest rate on our borrowings
increased 100 basis points (1%) from the creditifiadloor of 1.5%, our annual interest expenseultbincrease by approximately $1.3 millic
In July 2012, we entered into an interest rateagagpement per the terms of our senior securedt@gmiement. The interest rate cap agree
is effective beginning in October 2012, and matume®ctober 2014, with a total notional amount @6$nillion and a cap on LIBOR at 2.0%.
If the LIBOR rate were to increase by 100 basisiso{1.0%) above the credit facility floor of 1.5%6 a year, we would receive a payment
from the interest rate cap of approximately $0.Hiomi.

While we currently hold our excess cash in an dpegaaccount, in the future we may invest all graation of our excess cash in short
term investments, including money market accowmlttgre returns may reflect current interest ratessaAesult, market interest rate changes
impact our interest expense and interest incomis. ifitpact will depend on variables such as the ritade of interest rate changes and the
level of our borrowings under our credit facility @xcess cash balances.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Our consolidated financial statements and notaethend the reports of KPMG LLP are set forthhia Index to Financial Statements

under Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schejand is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls andgxfares that are designed to ensure that informegiguired to be disclosed in the
Company'’s reports under the Exchange Act is rechmoecessed, summarized and reported within the geriods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, andstiat information is accumulated and communicateddnagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officas, appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedunasagement recognized that any controls and proesdoo matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuranaeh@dving the desired control objectives.

Management, with the participation of our Chief Eixéive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, hegluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as defm&ilile 13a15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the fiscal gesered by this Annual Rep
on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, our Chieddtitive Officer and Chief Financial Officer cond&d that our disclosure controls and
procedures were functioning effectively at the oeable assurance level as of December 31, 2013.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Acprwvide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabflour financial reporting and the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemént external purposes in accordance with UniteddeS Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“US GAAP”). Under the supervision oficawith the participation of our Chief Executivefioér and Chief Financial Officer,
management assessed the effectiveness of intembtover financial reporting as of December 3113. Management based its assessmen
on criteria established in “Internal Control Integgd Framework” issued by the Committee of Spongd@irganizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQO”). Based on this evaluation, ngemaent concluded that its internal control ovearficial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting during the quarter ended DecerheR013, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, our internal control over financial reportirgher than those noted above.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpeate Governance

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporfFonm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporfFonm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporfFomnm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporEorm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

This Item is incorporated by reference to our défie proxy statement on Schedule 14A, which wélfiled within 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year covered by this reporForm 10-K, or if our proxy statement is not fileg that date, will be included in an amendmen
to this Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements

Financial StatementS.he financial statements filed as part of this repoe identified in the Index to Consolidated Ficial
Statements on page F-1.

Financial Statement ScheduleSee Item 15(c) below.

Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below.
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(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or arearporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfieth the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Company shall furnish copies oflgihfor a reasonable fee (covering the expendarafshing copies) upon request.

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1fo)he Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registranbparated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the @any’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agee¢, dated as of August 15, 2012, among the Regtstind the persons listed
thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Company’s Registration Statement on FormASfild July 23, 2012)

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement betweenRlegistrant and its officers and directors (incoaped by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on FormisSfiled July 30, 2012)

10.2 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreets thereunder (incorporated by reference to BExbib2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July 320

10.3 2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and fofragreements thereunder (incorporated by referenEshibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filglgt 3, 2012)

10.4 2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreemiiaieunder (incorporated by reference to Exhidit 1o the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July 3,20

10.5 Recovery Audit Contractor contract by andveen Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and @erior Medicare and Medicaid
Services dated as of October 3, 2008, as amendeatfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the @any’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 28692nd among DCS Business Services, Inc., thedmsruhrty Hereto, Madison
Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (incorporatedreference to Exhibit 10.6 to the CompaniRegistration Statement on Fc
S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.7 Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amerfohcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 ® @ompany’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 30, 2012)

10.8 Employment Agreement between the Registrashi#sa Im, dated as of April 15, 2012, as amen(@lezbrporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration StatermenForm S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.9 Employment Agreement between the Registrashtlan D. Shaver dated as of March 31, 2003, as@ade(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s RegistraStatement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

10.10 Repurchase Agreement between the Registnantisa C. Im dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorpeatdty reference to Exhibit 10.10
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Fornfifed July 3, 2012)

10.11 Repurchase Agreement between the Registnanion D. Shaver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incated by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement amF8-1 filed July 3, 2012)

Director Nomination Agreement between the Registaal Parthenon DCS Holdings, LLC dated as of 20ly2012 (incorporated
10.12 by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Regtion Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23,201

Advisory Services Agreement between Diversifiedl€mlon Services, Inc. and Parthenon Capital, Lla@d as of January 8,
2004, as amended (incorporated by reference tdixt).13 to the Company’s Registration Statemenform S-1/A filed July
10.13 23.2012



Termination of the Advisory Services Agreement tesw Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and Pamtin Capital, LLC dated
as of January 8, 2004, as amended, dated as df18p2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitlito the Company’s
10.14 Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 231 2)

2012 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeetacExhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registratioat&nent on Form S-1/A
10.15 filed July 23, 2012)

21 List of Subsidiaries
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Exhibit
Number Description

23 Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registeredi@ézcounting Firm

24 Powers of Attorney (included in the signatuageto this report)

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedwby Lisa C. Im

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exediby Hakan L. Orvell

32.1 Furnished Statement of the Chief Executiviic&funder 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2 Furnished Statement of the Chief Financidic®f under 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linldea
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinklsaBocument
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Lasg

Schedules not listed above have been omitted becdheyg are not applicable or required, or the mftion required to be set forth
therein is included in the Consolidated Financiak&nents or Notes hereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Performant Financial Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balameets of Performant Financial Corporation abdidiaries as
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related cdasedi statements of operations, changes in redéemedferred stock ai
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows femch of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2013. T
consolidated financial statements are the respititsibf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman
on these consolidated financial statements basedioaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting Oversighalo(United States
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidlit to obtain reasonable assurance about whibthdinancial statemer
are free of material misstatement. An audit inctudeamining, on a test basis, evidence suppotti@ginounts and disclosure:
the financial statements. An audit also includesessing the accounting principles used and sigmfi@stimates made
management, as well as evaluating the overall Giadustatement presentation. We believe that oditswprovide a reasonal
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all matleréspects, the financial positi
of Performant Financial Corporation and subsidgaas of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the redfutteir operations al
their cash flows for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2013, in conformith U.S. generall
accepted accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 13, 2014
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

Assets

December 31,

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance fobtfalaccounts of $32 and $65, respectively &
estimated allowance for appeals of $1,160 and $1 /ESpectively

Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Debt issuance costs, current portion

Total current assets
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements, ne
Identifiable intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Debt issuance costs, net
Other assets

Total assets $

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of notes payable $
Accrued salaries and benefits
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Estimated liability for appeals

Total current liabilities
Notes payable, net of current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized, 50D&8d 50,000 shares at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively; issued and outstandingl$88d 45,392 shares at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings (deficit)

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $

2013 2012
81,90¢ $ 37,84
19,64¢ 23,04

6,841 3,79¢
4,40C 2,87¢
1,05¢ 1,128
113,86 68,68
26,24 20,66
32,51 36,24
81,57: 81,57
2,78¢ 3,84
27¢ 73C
257,260 $ 211,74!
10,76: $ 11,04(
11,82¢ 9,28¢
2,38: 1,40
5,317 8,25:
10z 43¢

— 2,181
15,28: 4,37¢
45,66¢ 36,97¢
122,54: 136,72¢
12,61 11,27:
2,20 2,69
183,02 187,67.
5 4
49,79: 35,97(
24,43¢ (11,90)
74,23 24,07
257,260 $ 211,74!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other operating expenses
Impairment of trade name
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Debt extinguishment costs
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Accrual for preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common shareholders
Net income per share attributable to common shéder®(see Note 1)
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares (see Note 1)
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents.
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 255,30 $ 210,07: $ 162,97
96,76: 83,00: 67,08:
85,67 71,30 49,19
— — 13,40(
182,43 154,30 129,68
72,86 55,76t 33,29
— (3,679 —
(11,569 (12,419 (13,53()
1 64 128
61,30 39,73 19,88¢
24,96 16,78¢ 7,51¢€
$ 36,33¢ $ 2295 $ 12,37.
— 2,03¢ 6,49t
$ 36,33¢ $ 20,911 $ 5,87
$ 077 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1
$ 0.74 $ 04, $ 0.1¢
47,49: 43,98t 42,96
49,38¢ 47,59¢ 45,74;
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemaddierféd Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 aht 20

(In thousands)

Redeemable Preferred Stock
Series A . .
Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Retained
Due From Paid-In Earnings
Shares Amount Stockholders Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Total

Balance, December 31, 2010 529 $ 51,75 | $ (2,15¢) 37,667 $ 4 $ 19,25 $ (38,69) $ (21,599

Increase in redemption vali

of Series A preferred stock — 6,49 — — — — (6,49%) (6,49%)

Interest on notes receivable

from stockholders — — (10¢) — — — — (108¢)

Stock-based compensatior

expense — — — — — 12C — 12C

Net income — — — — — — 12,37: 12,37:
Balance, December 31, 2011 5,29¢ 58,24¢ (2,266) 37,667 4 19,37: (32,819 (15,704

Increase in redemption value

of Series A preferred stock — 2,03¢ — — — — (2,039 (2,039

Conversion of Series A

preferred stock to Series B

preferred stock which was

immediately redeemed for

cash — (60,28¢) — — — — — —

Conversion of Series B

preferred stock to common (5,296 — — 5,29¢ — — — —

Exercise of stock options — — — 284 — 17t — 17t

Issuance of stock — — — 2,24: — 15,42( — 15,42(

Purchase of treasury stock — — — (98) — (1,22%) — (1,22%)

Interest on notes receivable

from stockholders — — (57 — — — — (57

Repayment of notes

receivable from stockholde — — 2,32 — — — — 2,32¢

Stock-based compensation

expense — — — — — 1,61¢ — 1,614

Income tax benefit from

employee stock options — — — — — 61F — 61F

Net income — — — — — — 22,95: 22,95:
Balance, December 31, 2012 — — —  45,39: 4 35,97( (11,907 24,07:

Exercise of stock options — — — 2,92¢ 1 1,765 — 1,76¢

Stock-based compensatior

expense — — — — — 2,994 — 2,994

Income tax benefit from

employee stock options — — — — — 9,06( — 9,06(

Net income — — — — — — 36,33¢ 36,33¢
Balance, December 31, 2013 — 3 — $ —  48,31¢ % 5 $ 49,79: $% 24,43t $ 74,23¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 36,33¢ $ 2295 % 12,37:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Loss on disposal of assets 1 51 —
Impairment of intangible asset _ 13,40(
Depreciation and amortization 10,65¢ 9,50t 7,76¢€
Write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs _ 33¢ —
Deferred income taxes (1,70¢) (1,82¢6) (9,640
Stock-based compensation 2,992 1,61¢ 12C
Interest expense from debt issuance costs andiaatam of discount note payable 1,247 1,272 1,25¢
Interest income on notes receivable from stockhelde = (57) (10¢)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable 3,39t (3,64¢) (5,399
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,529 41€ (94)
Other assets 451 (72) 372
Accrued salaries and benefits 2,53¢ 2,15( 2,54z
Accounts payable 98C 1,34: (3)
Other current liabilities (2,94) (1,227 4,71
Income taxes payable (327) (40) 47C
Deferred revenue (2,187 27 2,214
Estimated liability for appeals 10,90 3,92¢ 45C
Other liabilities 38¢ 33C (1,459
Net cash provided by operating activities 61,20¢ 37,00¢ 28,98¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, equipment, and leaseholdowepnents (12,509 (11,356 (6,117
Purchase of perpetual software license and compgtépment — (837) —
Net cash used in investing activities (12,509 (12,199 (6,11
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowing under notes payable — 156,00( —
Borrowing under line of credit — 4,50( _
Redemption of preferred stock — (60,28¢) =
Repayment of notes payable (14,46Y (103,419 (13,949
Repayment of line of credit — (12,69¢) =
Debt issuance costs paid — (3,079 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,76¢ 17E _
Proceeds from issuance of stock — 12,62« —
Repayment of promissory notes from stockholders — 2,32¢ —
Income tax benefit from employee stock options 9,06( 61E —
Payment to stockholders — (1,767) =
Purchase of treasury stock — (1,22%) —
Payment of purchase obligation (2,000 (750) =
Net cash used in financing activities (4,637 (6,979) (13,949
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 44,06¢ 17,83¢ 8,92¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37,84 20,00 11,07¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 81,90¢ $ 37,84: $ 20,00

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid for income taxes $ 17,39%¢ $ 18,037 $ 15,83(

Nach naid far intara



Cash paid as debt extinguishment
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing arahting activities:
Obligation payable to sellers of perpetual license

Issuance of common stock as part of debt issuawsts ¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa&stents.
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PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl 201

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

()

Organization and Nature of Busines

Performant Financial Corporation (the Company)lsaaling provider of technology-enabled recoveny analytics services in the
United States. Company services help identifyyuesiire and recover delinquent or defaulted assetsmproper payments for both
government and private clients in a broad rangearkets. Company clients typically operate in cawrpnd regulated environments
and outsource their recovery needs in order toaethsses on billions of dollars of defaulted shideans, improper healthcare
payments and delinquent state tax and federalurgasceivables. The Company generally providessewices on an outsourced
basis, where we handle many or all aspects oflibets’ recovery processes.

The Company’s consolidated financial statementsidecthe operations of Performant Financial CorpoanaPFC), its wholly owned
subsidiary Performant Business Services, Inc.,isngholly owned subsidiaries Performant Recovarg, (Recovery), Performant
Technologies, Inc., and Performant Europe Ltd. &ife August 13, 2012, we changed the name of dwallyw owned subsidiary from
DCS Business Services, Inc. (DCSBS) to Performausirizss Services, Inc., and DCSBS’ wholly ownedgliaries from Diversified
Collection Services, Inc. (DCS), and Vista Finahdiac. (VFI), to Performant Recovery, Inc., andfemant Technologies, Inc.,
respectively. PFC is a Delaware corporation headerel in California and was formed in 2003. Parfant Business Services, Inc. is
a Nevada corporation founded in 1997. RecoveryGali#ornia corporation founded in 1976. Performaathnologies, Inc. is a
California corporation that was formed in 2004.

The Company is managed and operated as one buysiithsa single management team that reports t&tiief Executive Officer.

Principles of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieave been prepared in accordance with U.S. Gepéxatlepted Accounting
Principles, or U.S. GAAP. The Company consolidatatities in which it has controlling financial inést, and as of December 31,
2013, all of the Company'’s subsidiaries are 100@ex. All significant intercompany balances andisections have been eliminated
in consolidation.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Consolidatethancial Statement:

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with U.S. GAAP, requires managet to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities, primarily acdasurceivable, intangible assets,
goodwill, estimated liability for appeals, accruegpenses, and disclosure of contingent assetsabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the rep@medunts of revenues and expenses during the negqutiriods. Our actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Stock Split

On July 26, 2012, the Company effected a two -fog-stock split of the Company’s shares of CommaciStAccordingly, all per
share amounts, average shares outstanding, shastsnaling, and equity based compensation presénthd consolidated financial
statements and notes have been adjusted retrdgdtiveflect the stock split. Shareholders’ defltas been retroactively adjusted to
give effect to the stock split for all periods prated by reclassifying the par value of the addélshares issued in connection with
stock split to additional paid-in capital. Concunttg with the stock split, the authorized Commoncktwas increased fro@5,000,00(
shares to 60,000,000 shares. On August 15, 2042 utinorized Common Stock was increased to 50@00Ghares and the
authorized preferred stock was increased to 50000Chares.

Cash and Cash Equivalen

Cash and cash equivalents include demand depaositsighly liquid debt instruments with original ragties of three months or less
when purchased. These investments can include muoaeket funds that invest in highly liquid U.S. gorment and agency
obligations, certificates of deposit, bankers’ gtaaces, and commercial paper.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

The Company collects monies on behalf of its cie@ash is often held on behalf of the clientsarious trust accounts and is
subsequently remitted to the clients based on aonial agreements. Cash held in these trust accéamtontracting agencies is not
included in the Company’s assets (Note 12(a)).

Hosted Service Installation and Implementation Dedirables

In 2008, the Company entered into a long-term @attio provide hosted services to a client begoiminMarch 2009. The Company
determined that certain installation and implemgotadeliverables were not separate units of actognvithin the contract, and
should be combined for revenue recognition purpesdsthe hosted service deliverable. Accordingguenue for these contract
elements is being taken ratably from the commenoéwfehosted services in March 2009 through thereah period of March 2018.
Additionally, the Company deferred the direct imoemntal costs associated with the installation amplémentation deliverables, with
the costs being expensed ratably from the Marcl® 200nmencement of services through March 2018.

Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improveme

Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementstated at cost, net of accumulated depreciatiomifare and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method ovemedéd useful lives ranging from 5 to 7 years.l@ings are depreciated using the
straight-line method over 31.5 years. Leaseholgt@vements are amortized using the straight-linthoteover the shorter of the
estimated life of the asset or the remaining tefth® lease. Computer software and computer haelaar depreciated using the
straight-line method over 3 years and 5 yeaspeetively.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expenseasad. Improvements that extend the useful lofezssets are capitalized.

When property is sold or retired, the cost andréeted accumulated depreciation are removed frentonsolidated balance sheet
any gain or loss from the transaction is includethie consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse

Gooduwill represents the excess of purchase prideelated costs over the fair value assigned toétassets of businesses acquired.
Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is revieviedimpairment at least annually. Impairment is tio@dition that exists when the
carrying amount of goodwill is not recoverable dsccarrying amount exceeds its fair value.

The Company performed a qualitative assessmenhether it is more likely than not that goodwillifaalue is less than its carrying
amount for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 and concludedttiea¢ was no need to perform an impairment test.

Identifiable intangible assets consist of custonwettracts and related relationships, a perpetoahée, and covenants not to compete
Customer contracts and related relationships amrta@mad over their estimated useful life of 4 to 28ars. The perpetual license is
amortized over its estimated useful life of 5 years

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Asset:

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wkienevents or changes in circumstances indicatehk carrying amount of such
assets or intangibles may not be recoverable. Reability of assets to be held and used is measwredcomparison of the carrying
amount of the assets to future undiscounted nétfbass expected to be generated by the assetack assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is maabby the amount by which the carrying amount efahsets exceeds the fair value
of the assets. The Company did not recognize aairment expense for intangible assets in 2013 &i@.2n 2011, the Company
recorded $13.4 million of impairment expense taevaff the carrying amount of its former trade nabDiversified Collection

Services, Inc. (DCS). The Company determined taXCS trade name would not be used in the futuré retired the trade name
intangible asset accordingly.

System Developmen

The Company follows the provisions of Financial Aanting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stand@uaidification (ASC)
Subtopic 350-40nternal-Use Softwarewhich specifies that costs incurred during thpligption stage of development should be
capitalized. All other costs are expensed as iecuuring 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , costs of $4.89anil $5.4 million andb2.5 million
respectively, were capitalized for projects in dpplication stage
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of development, with depreciation expense of $2lBam , $2.4 million and $2.1 million respectivelfor completed projects.

(k) Debt Issuance Cos!

Debt issuance costs represent loan and legal féésmpconnection with the issuance of long-termtdBebt issuance cost is
amortized to interest expense in accordance wigttdsens of the notes as amended.

() Revenues, Accounts Receivable, and Estimated Lighiibr Appeals

Revenue is recognized upon the collection of dédduban and debt payments. Loan rehabilitatioemee is recognized when the
rehabilitated loans are sold (funded) by clientsehtive revenue is recognized upon receipt o€iaffinotification of incentive award
from customers. Under the Company’s RAC contrath @iMS, the Company recognizes revenues when thiéhkare provider has
paid CMS for a given claim or offset. Providers @édlve right to appeal a claim and may pursue additiappeals if the initial appeal
is found in favor of CMS. The Company accrues dmeded liability for appeals based on the amodmoonmissions received which
are subject to appeal and which the Company essrat probable of being returned to providers¥ahg successful appeal. At
December 31, 2013, a total of $16.4 million wasspnted as an allowance against revenue, repregéméi Company’s estimate of
claims that may be overturned. Of this amount, $iilRon was related to amounts in accounts reddeand $15.3 million was
related to commissions which had already beenvedeilhe balances at December 31, 2013 and 20&ge, $15.3 million and $4.4
million , respectively, represent the Company’stlessimate of the probable amount of losses relaegpeals of claims for which
commissions were previously collected. In additiothe $15.3 million amount accrued at Decembe2813, the Company estimat
that it is reasonably possible that it could beunexgl to pay an additional amount up to approxifyetd.5 million as a result of
potentially successful appeals. To the extentréngired payments by the Company exceed the anamenied, revenues in the
applicable period would be reduced by the amouth®®xcess.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Compaahyt clients whose individual revenues exceedétl dithe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totaimee of each of the 4 clients is summarized irtab& below (in thousands):

Percent of
Rank 2013 Revenue total revenue
1 $66,820 26.2%
2 51,566 20.2%
3 42,056 16.5%
4 30,902 12.1%

For the year ended December 31, 2012 , the Compaah$p clients whose individual revenues exceedétl dithe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totaimee of each of the 5 clients is summarized irtab& below (in thousands):

Percent of
Rank 2012 Revenue total revenue
1 $54,130 25.8%
2 39,183 18.7%
3 29,027 13.8%
4 25,469 12.1%
5 22,397 10.7%

For the year ended December 31, 2011 , the Commaah clients whose individual revenues exceedét dthe Company’s total
revenues. The dollar amount and percent of totedmee of each of the 5 clients is summarized irtdbte below (in thousands):
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Percent of
Rank 2011 Revenue total revenue
1 $30,732 18.9%
2 28,504 17.5%
3 21,812 13.4%
4 21,549 13.2%
5 17,934 11.0%

Revenue from the largest three customers was &8%,and 50% of total revenue in 2013 , 2012 and 20&spectively. Accounts
receivable due from these three customers were, 8% and 25% of total trade receivables at Dece®be2013 , 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Trade accounts receivable are redoaitléhe invoiced amount and do not bear intefesbunts collected on trade
accounts receivable are included in net cash peoviny operating activities in the consolidatedestants of cash flows. The Compi
determines the allowance for doubtful accountspg®ciic identification. Account balances are chargé against the allowance after
all means of collection have been exhausted anddtential for recovery is considered remote. Tllenance for doubtful accounts
was $0.0 million and $0.1 million at December 3012 and 2012 , respectively.

(m) Legal Expense:

(n)

(0)

(p)

(a)

The Company recognizes legal fees related to tibgaas they are incurred.

Comprehensive Incom

The Company has no components of comprehensivenmaher than its net income. Accordingly, compreiee income is
equivalent to net income.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments include cagh @ash equivalents, accounts receivable, accoaythpe and accrued liabilities,
short-term debt and long-term debt. The carryingesof cash and cash equivalents, accounts rditej\accounts payable, and
accrued liabilities approximate their fair valueséd on or due to their short-term maturities. ddreying values of short-term debt
and long-term debt approximate fair value, in whitkir variable interest rates approximate maris.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet-assl-liability method. Deferred income tax assetd liabilities are recognized
for future tax consequences attributable to difieess between the carrying value of assets anditie®ifor financial reporting
purposes and for taxation purposes. Deferred indasnassets and liabilities are measured usingniaeted tax rates expected to a
to taxable income in the years in which those tenrayadifferences are expected to be recoveredtiedeThe effect of a change in
tax rates on deferred income tax assets and tiabilis recognized in income in the period thalides the enactment date. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reldfiered tax assets to the amount expected tedbeed.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taxipaos only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained.
Recognized income tax positions are measured dathest amount that is greater than 50% likelpaihg realized. Changes in
recognition or measurement are reflected in theagen which the change in judgment occurs.

Preferred Stock

The carrying amounts of preferred stock are pecaltji increased by amounts representing dividemdsurrently declared or paid,
but which would be payable under certain redempaures. Such increases in carrying amountsea@ded against retained
earnings.

Stock Options

The Company accounts for its employee stock-basetbensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC dap8,Compensation —
Stock CompensatiarFASB ASC Topic 718 requires that all employeelktbased compensation is recognized as a cos¢in th
financial statements and that for equity-classifi@ards, such cost is measured at the grant
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(s)

date fair value of the award. The Company estimgitasst date fair value using the Black-Scholes-blexption-pricing model.

FASB ASC Topic 718 also requires that excess taefis recognized in equity related to stock optsrrcises are reflected as
financing cash inflows. The Company recognized imnedax benefits resulting from the exercise oflstmations in 2013, 2012 and
2011 of $9.1 million , $0.6 million and $0 milligrrespectively.

Earnings per Share

For the year ended December 31, 2013, basic earpegshare is calculated by dividing net incomaglaile to common shareholders
by the sum of the weighted average number of comshanes outstanding during the year . For the yarated December 31, 2012
and 2011, basic earnings per share is calculateliviling net income available to common sharehwdy the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the plearthe weighted average number of shares oéSériConvertible Preferred
Stock outstanding during the period. The SeriesoAv@rtible Preferred Stock are included in the ddsnominator because they
could be converted into common shares for no caskideration (via conversion units as further descrin Note 7), and were thus
considered outstanding common shares in computsig learnings per share. Diluted earnings per sbaaculated by dividing net
income available to common shareholders by the htethaverage number of common shares and dilutieron shares equivalents
outstanding during the period. The Company’s comstwre equivalents consist of stock options anttictssd stock units.

The following table reconciles the basic to dilutegighted average shares outstanding using theungatock method (shares in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 47,49: 43,98¢ 42,96:
Dilutive effect of stock options 1,89¢ 3,61« 2,78(
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 49,38¢ 47,59¢ 45,74

(t)

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , the Compasiyded 2,617,06dptions from the calculation of diluted earnings gleare fol
the year ended December 31, 2013 because the eptmmbined exercise price, unamortized fair valod excess tax benefits were
greater during the year than the average pricehioCompany's common stock because their effectdhmrianti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Starsl&uiard, or FASB issued Accounting Standards Up@r$®)) 2011-11Balance
Sheet (Topic 210), Disclosures about Offsettingessand Liabilities updated by ASU 2013-0Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures
about Offsetting Assets and Liabiliti@ghich requires companies to disclose informatiooutliinancial instruments that have been
offset and related arrangements to enable usehe @ompany's financial statements to understameéffiect of those arrangements on
the company's financial position. Companies wilkbguired to provide both net (offset amounts) grass information in the notes to
the financial statements for relevant assets atfuilies that are offset. ASU 2011-11, as amenruedSU 2013-01, is effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those geleginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adioif this guidance did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial steats.

In July 2012, FASB issued ASU No. 2012-0tangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): TestimglefiniteLived Intangible Asse
for Impairment. This newly issued accounting standard allows mtityethe option to first assess qualitative fastéo determin
whether it is necessary to perform a quantitatimpadirment test for indefinitbved intangibles other than goodwill. Under thation,
an entity would no longer be required to calculdie fair value of an indefiniteved intangible asset unless the entity determ
based on that qualitative assessment, that it e filkeely than not that the fair value of the indég-lived intangible asset is less ti
its carrying amount. This ASU is effective for amhand interim indefinitdived intangible asset impairment tests perfornmditca
years beginning after September 15, 2012. Earlptmiois permitted. The adoption of this guidanat ribt have a material effect
our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2013, FASB issued ASU No. 2013-@hligations Resulting from Joint and Several LiapilArrangements for which t
Total Amount of the Obligation is Fixed at the Réipg Date, which addresses the recognition, measurementdesatbsure ¢
certain joint and several obligations including debrangements, other contractual obligations, seitled litigation and judici
rulings. The ASU is effective for public entitiesr ffiscal years, and interim periods within
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those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. abwption of this guidance will not have a mated#kct on our consolidat
financial statements.

2. Acquisition

In February 2012, the Company purchased a perpstftalare license and computer equipment from H@R®#n-public Florida
company, in a transaction valued at $3.68 millidine purchase agreement calls for a total of $4lldmin cash payments to be made
over an approximate 3 year period, beginning witlinétial payment of $0.8 million which was madeFabruary 2012, followed by
quarterly payments of $0.3 million . As part of thensaction valuation, these payments were digedun a present value using an
estimate of our incremental borrowing rate.

The HOPS proprietary software platform providesaditering services for government and commeroedlth plans to help identify
improper payments made to health providers, andra#s our existing service offering in recoveryngbroper payments.

The purchase is being treated as a business cotiobifier accounting purposes; the following tablensnarizes the estimated fair values
of the assets acquired at the acquisition datth@insands):

February 1,
2012
Computer equipment $ 28C
Perpetual license 3,25(
Customer relationships 15C
Total identifiable assets acquired $ 3,68(

The acquired intangible assets will be amortizeer dleir estimated useful lives, which are 5 arygdrs for the perpetual license and
customer relationships, respectively.

3. Property, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvement
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvementsisoof the following at December 31, 2013 and 2(d2housands):

December 31,

2013 December 31, 2012
Land $ 1,767 $ 1,767
Building and leasehold improvements 5,77: 5,50(
Furniture, equipment, and automobile 4,932 4,40¢
Computer hardware and software 52,02: 40,88t
64,49 52,56

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (38,24¢) (31,89
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 26,247 $ 20,66¢

Depreciation and amortization expense of propedyuipment and leasehold improvements was $6.%omi/li55.8 million an&4.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ahtl 2@spectively.

4. |dentifiable Intangible Assets
Identifiable intangible assets consist of the fellog at December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Gross Accumulated
December 31, 2013 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer contracts and related relationships $ 62,19¢ $ (31,689 $ 30,50¢
Perpetual license 3,25( (1,24¢) 2,00¢
Total intangible assets $ 65,44¢ $ (32,93Y) $ 32,51
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Gross Accumulated
December 31, 2012 Amounts Amortization Net
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer contracts and related relationships $ 62,19¢ $ (28,609 $ 33,59(
Perpetual license 3,25( (59¢€) 2,65¢
Total intangible assets $ 65,44¢ $ (29,209 $ 36,24

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 akitl,2mortization expense related to intangibletassmounted to $3.7 million , $3.7
million and $3.0 million , respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense ébr @ahe five following fiscal years is as folloia thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2014 $ 3,731
2015 3,731
2016 3,69¢
2017 3,09i
2018 3,04:
Thereafter 15,21t
Total $ 32,51

5. Credit Agreement

On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalized emgdrito a credit agreement (the Agreement) comgjsif a Term A Loan of $57.0
million , a Term B Loan of $79.5 million , and avodving credit facility of $11.0 million . In conméion with the recapitalization, our old
credit facility, scheduled to mature in 2012, wasnguished, and our indebtedness on the old fgailas paid in full. As of December 31,
2011, the indebtedness on the old facility condiste$33.2 million under the Term A-2 Loan, $62Iroit under the Term B Loan aig8.2
million under the line of credit. On June 28, 20tt& Agreement was amended to increase the TerwaB to $99 million . Payments
under the Agreement are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2014 $10,76:
2015 10,76:
2016 10,76:
2017 9,99¢
2018 91,01¢
Thereafter —
Total $133,30:

Proceeds from the new Term A, Term B, and revolareglit facility borrowings were used along withrd8 million of our cash to repay
our old notes payable and line of credit in the ant@f $103.4 million and to redeem 3,897,000 shafeSeries A Convertible Preferred
Stock plus accrued dividends for a total of $44illion . Fees paid in conjunction with the crediraement totaled $8.1 milligrincluding
an agency fee for $1.5 million to an entity assiedavith our majority stockholder, and an agreentemfrant 215,000 shares of Common
Stock valued at approximately $2.8 million to amaéstment bank acting as advisor.

Proceeds from the additional Term B borrowings wesed to redeem the remaining 1,399,000 sharesrasSA Convertible Preferred
Stock outstanding plus accrued dividends for d wft&16.3 million . Fees paid in conjunction witie credit agreement totaled $0.8
million , including an agency fee for $0.2 millibm an entity associated with our majority stockleoldRemaining proceeds of $2.3 million
were used along with existing cash to pay off the bf credit balance of $4.5 million .

The Term A Loan is charged interest either at Piisubject to a 2.5% floor) + 4.25% or LIBOR (sultjera 1.5% floor) + 5.25% , which
was 6.75% at December 31, 2013 . The Term A loguires quarterly payments of $2.5 million beginningune 2012, with the
remaining outstanding principal balance due Mar@h?017 . As of December 31, 2013 , the Term A leading balance, including the
current portion was $38.4 million .
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The Term B loan is charged interest at Prime +%.{8ubject to a 2.50% floor) or LIBOR (subject t&.&0% floor) + 5.75% which was
7.25% at December 31, 2013 . The Term B loan reguuarterly payments of $0.2 million beginningime 2012, with the outstanding
principal balance due March 19, 2018 . As of Decen#i, 2013, the Term B loan ending balance, @inlythe current portion was $94.9
million .

The Company has a line of credit under the Agreé¢mvbich allows for borrowings of up to $11 millioBorrowings accrue interest at
Prime + 4.25% or LIBOR + 5.25% , which was 6.75%atember 31, 2013 . Both the Prime and the LIB@&retives are subject to
minimum rate floors. In addition, a facility fee @5%is assessed on the commitment amount. There wesatatanding borrowings unc
this line of credit at December 31, 2013 , andti@tef credit outstanding in the amount of $1.4liom , leaving remaining borrowing
capacity under the line of credit of $9.6 millionecember 31, 2013 . The line of credit expiredlarch 19, 2017 .

The Agreement contains certain restrictive finahoiaenants, which require, among other thingg, weameet a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio of 1.20 and maximum total debt toéTER\ ratio of 3.25 . Additionally, these covenaméstrict the Company and its
subsidiaries’ ability to incur certain types or amts of indebtedness, incur liens on certain assetke material changes in corporate
structure or the nature of its business, disposeatérial assets, engage in a change in contriddiion, make certain foreign investme
enter into certain restrictive agreements, or eagagertain transactions with affiliates. We wgreompliance with all such covenants at
December 31, 2013 .

The Agreement contains a prepayment provision wiggires the Company to perform an annual excess ftow computation based on
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amattization compared to changes in working capBalsed on the results of this
computation, in May 2013, the Company made a paywie$3.6 million to the lenders.

During our March 19, 2012 recapitalization, debtisnce costs of $5.0 million were capitalized,udoig $1.5 millionof agent fees paid
an entity associated with our majority stockholderd $0.8 million paid to third parties for legaldaother services and a grant of 215,044
shares of Common Stock issued as compensationifvestment bank acting as financial advisor valaedpproximately $2.8 million ,
based upon a price of $13 per share. These cestearg amortized to expense over the life of the lbans.

The Company capitalized an additional $0.8 millietated to our June 28, 2012 amendment to the Aggee which include®&0.2 million
of agent fees paid to an entity associated withneajority stockholders, and $0.0 million paid tirdhparties for legal and other services.
Debt issuance costs are being amortized to intergminse over the life of the new loans. Accumdlat®ortization of debt issuance costs
amounted to $2.0 million at December 31, 2013 .

Debt extinguishment costs of $3.7 million were engesl, including $3.3 million of fees paid to lersjend $0.3 million of unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with the old dieddlity.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office facilities and certaimggent. In January 2012, we renewed two of ouilifies leases and entered into a new
lease agreement for approximately 6,000 squardrfaevermore, California. In August 2013, we em@rinto a new lease agreement for
office space for approximately 15,667 square fe&rants Pass, Oregon.

Future minimum rental commitments under non-cafdelases as of December 31, 2013 are as follovtequsands):

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2014 $ 1,88:
2015 1,63(
2016 1,29:¢
2017 1,04z
2018 30¢
Thereafter 464
Total $ 6,62(

Lease expense was $2.6 million , $2.4 million ah®@$nillion for the year ended December 31, 202312 and 2011 , respectively.

7. Capital Stock

Prior to August 15, 2012, the total number of skarfecapital stock that the Company had authoadtigsue was 96,000,000 , consisting of
18,000,000 shares of Series A Participating Seieferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock), $0.q@0value per share (Series A
Preferred Stock); 18,000,000 shares of Series R2&uadble Senior Preferred Stock,
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$0.0001 par value per share (Series B PreferrezkBtand 60,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.pa@¥alue per share. On
August 15, 2012, the authorized Common Stock wareased to 500,000,000 shares and the authorieéeled stock was increased to
50,000,000 shares.

(a) Series A Preferred Stoc

Issuance — On May 23, 2006, the Company sold 5,295,67&reshof Series A Preferred Stock to shareholdeapate of $5.6per share
receiving gross proceeds of $30,000,000 , andnoeepds of $29,925,000 after issuance costs 00$@5,

Retirement of Series of A Preferred Stock On March 19, 2012, the Company recapitalizedp#s of the recapitalization, 3,897,000
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock werererted into conversion units, which consistedne share of Series B Preferred
Stock and one share of Common Stock. The Seriegfiifed shares plus accrued dividends were redténeash of $44 million , and
3,897,000 shares of Common Stock were issued thdluers of the redeemed Series A Convertible PedeStock.

In June 2012, the remaining 1,399,000 shares aé¢$SArConvertible Preferred Stock were convertéd aonversion units of one share of
Series B Preferred Stock and one share of Comnawk Sthe shares Series B Preferred Stock plus eddividends were redeemed for
cash of $16.3 million and 1,399,000 shares of Com@itock were issued to the holders of the redee®eeids A Convertible Preferred
Stock.

Dividends— The holders of Series A Preferred Stock werdledtto receive dividends as declared by the boadirectors. The dividends
accrued on a daily basis at the rate of 12% peumnon the sum of the Liquidation Value plus acclatad dividends and accrued and
unpaid dividends thereon from the date of issuarfitke Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2014 Gbmpany had accrued dividends
payable of $28,248,000 recorded as an increasetBeries A Preferred Stock.

Voting — Each share of Series A Preferred Stock entitiechblder to cast a number of votes per share ¢ojtla¢ number of votes that the
holder would be entitled to cast assuming that sianes of Series A Preferred Stock had been cmavierto shares of Common Stock.

Liguidation — In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionvanding up of the Company, before any distributayrpayment to holders of
Common Stock, but on parity with the holders ofi& B Preferred Stock, holders of shares of SéiBseferred Stock were entitled to be
paid an amount equal to the Liquidation Value aB$Pper share plus any accumulated or accrued but diipadends thereon. In additis
to the payments set forth above, the holders akshaf Series A Preferred Stock were entitled ttigipate, on a parity and ratably on a
per-share basis with the holders of Common Stoitk, i@spect to all such distributions or paymehtt the holders of Series A Preferred
Stock would have been entitled to receive with eespo the number of shares of Common Stock intizhwviuch holders’ shares of

Series A Preferred Stock were convertible immedligigor to any relevant record date or paymenédatconnection with liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up, but only to the extémt shares of Common Stock would have participatedich distributions or payments
(and such payment shall be junior to all equityusties of the Company that rank senior to the Camr8tock, including without

limitation the Series B Preferred Stock).

Conversion— The Series A Preferred Stock was convertible @aaversion Units (as defined below), at a ratera Conversion Unit for
one share of Series A Preferred Stock. A Converdiaih consisted of (i) the number of shares of CamrBtock determined by dividing
the Liquidation Value of the Series A Preferredcgtby the Conversion Price then in effect (the CamrRortion) and (ii) one share of
Series B Preferred Stock (the Series B Portionjestilto adjustments. If upon conversion there vegng unpaid, accrued, or accumulated
dividends due on the shares of Series A PreferreckSsuch dividends continued to be deferredware considered unpaid, accrued, or
accumulated dividends (as the case may be) dusecBdries B Preferred Stock.

» Optional conversion — Each share of Series AdPmred Stock was convertible, at the option oftibkder thereof, into a
Conversion Unit at any time after the date of is&®aof such share.

» Automatic conversion — Each share of Series&dPred Stock automatically could have been coaderito Conversion Units on
the date specified by written consent or agreemgtite holders of a majority of the then outstagdshares of Series A Preferred
Stock.

» Conversion price — The initial Conversion Pridghe shares issued in May 2006 was $5.67 peeshaorder to prevent dilution
of the conversion rights granted to the holderhefSeries A Preferred Stock, the Conversion Rve subject to adjustment fri
time to time under certain circumstances. If thenpany (i) declared a dividend on the Common Stagkaple in shares of its
capital stock (including Common Stock), (ii) subded the outstanding Common Stock, (iii) combintes dutstanding Common
Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iv)éssany shares of its capital stock in a reclasgifio of the Common Stock, then,
in each such case, the
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Conversion Price was to be proportionately adjustethat, in connection with a conversion of tharek of Series A Preferred
Stock after such date, the holder of shares oeS&iPreferred Stock would have been entitled ¢eive the aggregate number
and kind of shares of capital stock, which, if to@version had occurred immediately prior to suate dthe holder would have
owned upon such conversion and been entitled wvedby virtue of such dividend, subdivision, cormdtion, or reclassification.

(c) Issuance of Shares of Common Stock as Compense

As part of the March 19, 2012 recapitalization, @w@npany issued to its financial advisor as comgims in connection with the debt
portion of the recapitalization 215,000 shares @@ on Stock valued at approximately $2.8 milliosdrhupon a price of $13 per share.
This amount represents debt issuance costs amihig Amortized to expense over the 5 to 6 yeapfithe loans described in Note 5.

(d) Initial Public Offering

In August 2012, the Company completed its initiablic offering (IPO) in which we issued and sol824,000 shares of Common Stock
a public offering price of $9.00 per share. The @any received net proceeds of $12.6 million afehutting underwriter discounts and
commissions of $1.0 million and other offering empes of approximately $3.6 million . In additiorfirsancial advisor to the Company
was paid $0.9 million through the issuance of 103,8hares of Common Stock valued at $9.00 per share

8. Stock-based Compensatio

(a) Stock Options

The Company established the 2004 DCS Holdings Sigtlon Plan, the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Equitgdntive Plan (Performant
Financial Corporation is the new name of DCS Hajdirinc.), the Performant Financial Corporation28@ock Option Plan, and the
Performant Financial Corporation 2012 Stock Inaenilan (the Plans). Under the terms of the 2008 BiGIdings Stock Option Ple
stock options may be granted for up to 4,000,068res of the Company’s authorized but unissued Gam®&tock. The 2004 DCS
Holdings Stock Option Plan was terminated on threpmetion of the Company’s initial public offering August 2012. No shares of
our common stock are available under our 2004 S@tion Plan other than for satisfying exercisestotk options granted under 1
plan prior to termination.

Under the terms of the DCS Holdings, Inc. 2004 Bguricentive Plan, incentive and nonqualified stogkions, stock bonuses, and
rights to acquire restricted stock may be grantedip to 3,600,000 shares of the Company’s authdrbut unissued Common Stock.
Options granted under the DCS Holdings, Inc. 20§dify Incentive Plan generally vest over a fouratyperiod. The Company'DCS
Holdings, Inc. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan was teratéd on the completion of its initial public offeg in August 2012. No shares of
our common stock are available under our 2004 Edndentive Plan other than for satisfying exersiséstock options granted under
this plan prior to termination.

Under the terms of the Performant Financial Corpamna2007 Stock Option Plan, incentive and nondjigalistock options may be
granted for up to 4,000,000 shares of the Compaawythorized but unissued Common Stock. Optionstgdaunder the Performant
Financial Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan gelhexest over a five -year period. Performant FiciahCorporation 2007 Stock
Option Plan was terminated on the completion offitsal public offering in August 2012. No sharesour common stock are
available under our 2007 Stock Option Plan othan tlor satisfying exercises of stock options grdnteder this plan prior to
termination.

The terms of the Performant Financial Corporatiéh2Stock Incentive Plan provide for the grantifignoentive stock options within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code to emplogeeshe granting of nonstatutory stock optionstrigted stock, stock appreciati
rights, stock unit awards and cash-based awaresdoyees, non-employee directors and consult@hts Company has reserved
4,300,000 shares of common stock under the 2012 Piations granted under the Performant Finanaiep@ration 2012 Stock
Incentive Plan generally vest over periods of foufive -years.

The exercise price of incentive stock options shafierally not be less than 100% of the fair mavkéite of the Common Stock
subject to the option on the date that the opsagranted. The exercise price of nonqualified stymtions shall generally not be less
than 85% of the fair market value of the Commorcks&ubject to the option on the date that the opBgyranted. Options issued
under the Plans have a maximum term of 10 yearsvesicover schedules determined by the board e€fdirs. Options issued under
the Plans generally provide for immediate vestihgrivested shares in the event of a sale of thepaom
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Total stock-based compensation expense chargedaates and benefits expense in the consolidasdreents of operations was $3.0
million , $1.6 million and $0.1 million for the yemended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 ectgely.

The following table sets forth a summary of ourcktoption activity for the year ended December 31.:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate
Outstanding exercise price contractual life Intrinsic Value
Options per share (Years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 5,510,75! 0.64 6.00
Granted 180,00( 5.5C
Forfeited (25,287 0.74
Exercised (71¢) 0.5C
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 5,664,75I 0.8C 5.20
Granted 2,549,10! 10.3Z
Forfeited (29,077 7.9¢
Exercised (285,059 0.61
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 7,909,72. 3.8¢ 5.89
Granted 313,60( 11.8¢
Forfeited (102,38) 10.0¢
Exercised (2,908,12) 0.6C
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 5212,82. $ 6.0 6.62 $ 23,46¢
Vested, exercisable, and expected to Yest
December 31, 2013 5,100,611 $ 5.94 6.58 $ 23,374
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 2,864,891 $ 3.0z 519 $ 21,05;

(1) Options expected to vest reflect an estimated itorierate

The weighted-average grant-date exercise priceook®ptions granted during the years ended DeceBhe2013 , 2012 and 2011
was $11.85, $10.32 and $5.50 , respectively, lp@res The aggregate intrinsic value of our stodioog (the amount by which the
market price of the stock on the date of exercimeeded the exercise price of the option) exerdiseuhg the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , was $31.3omi)l$2.9 million and $0 million , respectively. Becember 31, 2013, 2012nd
2011 , there was $10.5 million , $12 million and6fillion , respectively, of unrecognized stoclkséd compensation expense relatec
to non-vested stock-based compensation arrangemdrnitdh the Company expects to recognize over ghted-average period of
3.40 years as stock-based compensation expense.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock opticere $1.8 million , $0.2 million and $0 milliomdng 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 22032 and 2011 , we realized a $9.1 million 63@illion and $0 million tax
benefit from the exercise of stock options, respebt.

The fair value of each option grant was estimat@dguthe Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expdotolatilities are calculated
based on the historical volatility data of compéegieer companies over a term comparable to thectep term of the options issued.
The expected term of the award is determined basele average of the vesting term and the conhttrm. Management monitors
share option exercise and employee terminatioripetto estimate forfeiture rates within the vabramodel. Separate groups of
employees that have similar groups of employeds sihilar historical exercise behavior are consideseparately for valuation
purposes.

We estimated the fair value of options grantedaisiBlack-Scholes option pricing model with thddeling assumptions:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 54.2% 48.3% 39.8%
Expected dividends —% —% —%
Expected term (years) 6.2 6.5 6.3
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 1.0% 1.2%
Weighted-average estimated fair value of optiomsitgd during the year $6.23 $5.22 $2.23

Valuation and Amortization MethodHhe Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigranted using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model. The fair value is then ammet on a straight line basis over the requisiteiseperiods of the awards, which is
generally the vesting period. Stock options typgychhve a ten year life from the grant date andinggeriods of four to five years.
The fair value of the Company’s common stock iseblasn the market price of the stock on the datganft.

Expected Term Fhe Company’s expected term represents the pdraidhe Company’s stock-based awards are expextss t
outstanding. For awards granted subject only teicenvesting requirements, the Company utilizessihglified method under the
provisions of FASB ASC 718-10-S99-1 (Staff AccongtBulletin No. 107) for estimating the expecteait®f the stockased awarc

Expected Volatility Because there is insufficient history of the Conyastock price returns, the Company lacks suffittastorical
volatility data for its equity awards. Accordinglipe Company calculates the expected volatilitpgisi composite made up of

comparable peer companies and an approximate 2@®basty weighting over a term comparable to the ebgoketerm of the options
issued.

Expected Dividend Fhe Company has never paid dividends on its comshanes and currently does not intend to do so. rilaagly,
the dividend yield percentage is zero for all pdsio

Risk-Free Interest Rate Fhe risk-free interest rate used in the Black Sehehluation method is based on the U.S. Treasurstant
maturity interest rate whose term is consisten Wit expected life of our stock options.

(b) Restricted Stock Unit

The following table summarizes restricted stock antivity for the year ended December 31:

Weighted

average

Number of grant date

Awards fair value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 — 3 —
Granted 5,26: 10.5¢
Forfeited — —
Vested and converted to shares — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 526: $ 10.5¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2013 5260 $ 10.5¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was $0.06 millionavhpensation expense that has yet to be recogreied to non-vested
restricted stock units. This expense is expectduktecognized over the remaining weighted-avevagted period of fouyears. Noni
of the restricted stock units vested during the yealed December 31, 2013. Restricted stock uratsted under the Performant
Financial Corporation 2012 Stock Incentive Planagatly vest over four years. The company did natize any tax benefits related to
the restricted stock units during the year endeckeDwer 31, 2013.
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9. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Salary Deferral PlanFtha) covering all full-time employees who have wetain service requirements.
Employees may contribute a portion of their salgwyto the maximum limit established by the IntefRalvenue Code for such plans.
Employer contributions are discretionary. No matghtontributions were made during 2013, 2012 arid 20

10. Income Taxes
The Company’s income tax expense (benefit) consistse following (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Current:

Federal $ 21,52¢ $ 15,14: % 14,05
State 5,14¢ 3,47( 3,10:
26,67 18,61: 17,15¢

Deferred:
Federal $ (86€) $ (1,599 $ (7,350
State (842) (227) (2,290
(1,709 (1,826 (9,640
Total Expense (Benefit) $ 24967 $ 16,78¢ $ 7,51¢

A reconciliation of the income tax expense caladaising the applicable federal statutory ratébeactual income tax expense for the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201 fad@ss:

2013 2012 2011

Federal income at the statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
State income tax, net of federal benefit 5% 5% 3%
Permanent differences 1% 2% 1%
Other —% —% ()%
41% 42% 38 %

The following table summarizes the components ef@ompany’s deferred tax assets and liabilitiesf @ecember 31, 2013 , and 20012
thousands):
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2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Bad debt reserve $ 13 8 26
Vacation accrual 1,02( 90¢
Nonqualified stock options 1,52¢ 1,76
Deferred finance costs — 3,08:
Debt issuance costs 84¢ —
Acquisition costs 15¢ 197
State tax deferral 1,47¢ 1,37:
Deferred revenue 352 91
State tax credits 29C 56€
Net operating loss 47 —
Estimated liability for appeals 4,27 1,26(
Other 11¢ 82
Total deferred tax assets 10,12: 9,35:
Valuation allowance (147 (357)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation alloweanc 9,97¢ 9,00z
Deferred tax liabilities:
Identifiable intangible assets (11,17¢) (13,007
Fixed assets (4,547 (3,44¢)
Other (22 (22
Total deferred tax liabilities (15,749 (16,47%
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (5,765 $ (7,477%)

The Company believes that it is more likely thahthat the results of future operations will getersufficient taxable income to realize
the deferred tax assets, except for certain saateredits. Income tax expense is allocated ttisidiaries included in the consolidated
tax return on the basis of the subsidiaries’ stalote tax provision.

The Company has a valuation allowance of approxm&0.1 million and $0.4 million , as of Decemi3dr, 2013and December 31, 201
respectively, primarily related to California emtgse zone tax credits for which it is not moreelikthan not that the tax benefit will be
realized.

The Company has state tax credits of $0.3 milliamich, due to the Assembly Bill 93 and Senate ®llIsigned on July 11, 2013, are now
limited to a 10 year carryforward, and will expine2024. The Company has state net operating msgforwards of $0.4 million which
expire in 2020 .

The following table reconciles the Company’s ungzired tax benefits as of December 31, 2013 frgmrirecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December (@], 2 $ =
Increase related to prior year tax positions 11t
Decrease related to prior year tax positions —
Increase related to current year tax positions 164
Settlements —
Lapse of statute of limitations —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December@I2 2 27¢
Increase related to prior year tax positions 357
Decrease related to prior year tax positions —
Increase related to current year tax positions 49
Settlements (139
Lapse of statute of limitations —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December(@i3 2 $ 54¢€

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had approxim&@&b million and $0.3 milliomf unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. We dt
expect any significant change in unrecognized &nefits during the next twelve months. The
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Company records interest expense and penaltidedeia unrecognized tax benefits in income tax agpeThe amount of accrued interest
was not material at December 31, 2013 and 201sperively. No penalties were recognized in 2018asrued at December 31, 2013 ,
and 2012 respectively. Unrecognized tax benefieppiroximately $0.5 million which, if recognizedould favorably affect the

Company'’s effective income tax rate.

The Company files federal and state income taxmetu-or years before 2009, the Company is no losigigiect to California, Texas, and
certain state state tax examinations. For tax pefore 2010, the Company is no longer subject tteFad and certain other state tax
examinations.

11. Related Party Transactions

Our notes payable, both before and after the reagaition of March 19, 2012, are held by a numifdenders, some of whom also
invested in our stock. As a result, these entaiesconsidered related parties. Interest experser these arrangements totaled $10.3
million , $11.1 million and $12.3 million for theeprs ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011eateggy, and the debt
extinguishment expense associated with the redizpiian totaled $3.3 million for the year endeddember 31, 2012 .

In an agreement dated April 13, 2012 , the Compartiyan affiliate of Parthenon Capital Partners teated an existing advisory services
agreement, which called for quarterly paymentsCi $nillion . As part of the April 13, 2012 termiian agreement, the Company agreed
to pay Parthenon Capital $1.3 million in equal ¢erdy installments of $0.1 million beginning in Ap2012, provided that the remaining
balance will become due and payable immediatelywubpe closing of an IPO or the sale of the Compdimg. Company paid two quarterly
installments of $0.1 million and paid the remainbajance of $1.1 million on August 15, 2012, theedhe IPO closed. In addition, the
agreement specifies that the affiliate will be dufee equal to 1% of the aggregate gross procdeds|®O offering or 1%f the aggregat
consideration paid in connection with the salehef Company, as applicable. The Company expensedad®0.9 million to Parthenon
Capital Partners in August 2012 upon successfsimpof the IPO.

12. Other Commitments and Contingencies

(&) Trust Funds

The Company collects principal and interest paysant collection costs on defaulted loans for wericontracting agencies. Cash
collections for some of the Company’s customershatd in trust in bank accounts controlled by tlempany. The Company remits trust
funds to the contracting agencies on a regulasb@tie amount of cash held in trust and the relébdity are separated from and not
included in the Company’s assets and liabilitiessiCheld in trust for customers totaled $1.1 milkmd $1.4 million abecember 31, 20:
and 2012 , respectively.

(b) Litigation

The Company, during the ordinary course of its affens, has been named in various legal suits s, several of which are still
pending. In the opinion of management and the Coryipdegal counsel, such legal actions will not @amaterial effect on the
Company'’s financial position or results of operasi@r cash flows.

13. Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events through thetdste consolidated financial statements weredsand
there are no other events that have occurred thaldwequire adjustments or disclosures to our clitested
financial statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoedly authorized.

PERFORMANT FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By: /sl Lisa C. Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 2014
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anairgpp.isa C. Im
and Hakan L. Orvell, and each of them, his or hex aind lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with fulMper of substitution, for him or her in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendments taréipisrt on Form 10-K and to file the same, with &éxithereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission, hereby ratifying and confirmingthdt each of said attorneys-in-fact or
their substitute or substitutes may do or caudetdone by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Lisa C. Im Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Offige March 14, 2014
Lisa C. Im and Director
/sl Hakan L. Orvell Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 14, 2014
Hakan L. Orvell Accounting Officer)
/s/ Dr. Jon D. Shaver Chairman of the Board and Director March 14, 2014

Dr. Jon D. Shaver

/s/ Todd R. Ford Director March 14, 2014
Todd R. Ford
/s/ Brian P. Golson Director March 14, 2014

Brian P. Golson

/sl Bradley F. Fluegel Director March 14, 2014
Bradley F. Fluegel

/s/ Bruce Hansen Director March 14, 2014
Bruce Hansen

/s/ William D. Hansen Director March 14, 2014
William D. Hansen
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SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid 201

Allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Balance at Additions
Beginning of Charged Balance at
Description Period against Revenue Recoveries Charge-offs End of Period
2013 $ 65 — 2 (35) $ 32
2012 $ 77 — 2 (14) $ 65
2011 $ 45 28 14 (10) $ 77
Estimated allowance and liability for appeals — RB@nhtract (in thousands):
Additions Appeals found
Balance at Charged in Providers Balance at

Description Beginning of against Revenue Favor End of Period
2013 5,57 12,79: (1,925 $ 16,44 *
2012 $ 934 8,58¢ (3,946 5,577 *
2011 101 1,74 (910 934 *
* Includes $1,160 , $1,199 and $484 related tcettemated allowance for appeals that apply to lected accounts receivable as of

2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number

3.1

3.2

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.X(b)he Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registranb(parated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(b) to the @any’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agee¢ dated as of August 15, 2012, among the Ragtsind the persons listed
thereon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Company’s Registration Statement on FormASfiled July 23, 2012)

Form of Indemnification Agreement betweenRegistrant and its officers and directors (incoaped by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement omF8+1/A filed July 30, 2012)

2004 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreets thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhib2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July 3,20

2004 DCS Holdings Stock Option Plan and fofragreements thereunder (incorporated by referemEahibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filglg 3, 2012)

2007 Stock Option Plan and form of agreemingieunder (incorporated by reference to Exhiditt 1o the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed July 3,20

Recovery Audit Contractor contract by andveein Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and @erior Medicare and Medicaid
Services dated as of October 3, 2008, as amendaaffiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Gany’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 28¢2nd among DCS Business Services, Inc., thedrmsnuhrty Hereto, Madison
Capital Funding LLC, and ING Capital (incorporatadreference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Riegion Statement on
Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Form of Change of Control Agreement, as amérfohcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 ® @ompany’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed July 30, 2012)

Employment Agreement between the Registrachi ssa Im, dated as of April 15, 2012, as amen@ezbrporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Employment Agreement between the Registrahtlan D. Shaver dated as of March 31, 2003, asdade(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s RegistraStatement on Form S-1/A filed July 23, 2012)

Repurchase Agreement between the Registnantisa C. Im dated as of July 3, 2012 (incorpeutddy reference to Exhibit 10.10
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Fornmfifed July 3, 2012)

Repurchase Agreement between the Registnanion D. Shaver dated as of July 3, 2012 (incatpd by reference to Exhibit
10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement amF®-1 filed July 3, 2012)

Director Nomination Agreement between thgi®eant and Parthenon DCS Holdings, LLC datedfdsiy 20, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to@wmnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/Alfillaly 23, 2012)

Advisory Services Agreement between DivexdiCollection Services, Inc. and Parthenon CagifaC dated as of January 8,
2004, as amended (incorporated by reference taoixt.13 to the Company’s Registration Statementorm S-1/A filed July
23, 2012)

Termination of the Advisory Services Agreement kestw Diversified Collection Services, Inc. and Pemtin Capital, LLC dated
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10.14 Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filely 23, 2012)

2012 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeegiocExhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registratioat&nent on Form S-1/A
10.15 filed July 23, 2012)




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

21

23

24

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Description

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registeredi®ézcounting Firm

Powers of Attorney (included in the signatuageto this report)

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedwy Lisa C. Im

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, exedlby Hakan L. Orvell

Furnished Statement of the Chief Executivic&funder 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Furnished Statement of the Chief Financidice®f under 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linldea

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinklsaBocument

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Ladeh



SUBSIDIARIES

Company Name

Performant Business Services, Inc.

Performant Recovery, Inc.
Performant Technologies, Inc.

Exhibit 21

State of Incorporation
Nevada
California
California



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Performant Financial Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statement on Form S-8 (No. 383657) of our report dated Mai
13, 2014 with respect to the consolidated balaheets of Performant Financial Corporation and sliduses as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statsroéoperations, changes in stockholders’ eqaity, cash flows for each of
the years in the three year period ended Decenihe203.3 which report appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 13, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

[, Lisa C. Im, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegos presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarBurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabre that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 14, 2014

/sl Lisa C. Im

Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
I, Hakan L. Orvell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRerformant Financial Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedaotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentéisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarBurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyadbre that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a siginifrole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 14, 2014

/s/ Hakan L. Orvell
Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Lisa C. Im, Chief Executive Officer of Perforntdfinancial Corporation (the “Company”), certifyynguant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 28t to my knowledge the Annual Report on ForrKléf the Company (the “Report”),

which accompanies this Certificate, fully compheish the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
all information contained in the Report fairly peess, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 14, 2014
/s/ Lisa C. Im
Lisa C. Im
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Hakan L. Orvell, Chief Financial Officer of Perfnant Financial Corporation (the “Company”), dgttpursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2002, that to my knowledge the Annual Reporfonm 10-K of the Company (the
“Report”), which accompanies this Certificate, fjutlomplies with the requirements of Section 13¢a)}%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and all information contained in the Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the foaincondition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: March 14, 2014
/s/ Hakan L. Orvell

Hakan L. Orvell
Chief Financial Officer



